
R
ep

or
t 

an
d 

Fi
na

nc
ia

l 
S

ta
te

m
en

ts
Fo

r 
th

e 
ye

ar
 e

nd
ed

 3
1 

Ju
ly

 2
01

8







University of the Arts London 
Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 31 July 2018

2



3www.arts.ac.uk





5www.arts.ac.uk

 6 Officers and advisers
 
 7 Court of Governors

 8 Summary of key statistics

11 Vice-Chancellor’s foreword

12 Strategic review 
 
17 Financial review 
 
24 Public benefit 
 
24 Governance review
 
26 Corporate governance statement
 
29 Statement of the Court of Governors’ responsibilities
 
30 Independent auditor’s report to the Court of Governors
 
32  Consolidated and University statement of comprehensive income and expenditure

33  Consolidated and University statement of changes in reserves

34 Consolidated and University balance sheet
 
35 Consolidated cash flow statement

36 Statement of principal accounting policies
 
40 Notes to the accounts

Contents



University of the Arts London 
Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 31 July 2018

6

Vice-Chancellor Nigel Carrington

University Secretary  Stephen Marshall 
and Registrar 
  
Principal office 272 High Holborn, London WC1V 7EY
  
External auditor KPMG LLP Chartered Accountants 
 15 Canada Square, London E14 5GL
  
Internal auditor PwC PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
 1 Embankment Place, London, WC2N 6RH
  
Bankers  Lloyds Bank Plc 

39 Threadneedle Street, London EC2R 8AU

  National Westminster Bank Plc 
Piccadilly and New Bond Street 
63 – 65 Piccadilly, London W1J 0AJ

  
Solicitor CMS Cameron McKenna Nabarro Olswang LLP 
 Cannon Place, 78 Cannon Street, London, EC4N 6AF
  
Insurers UM Association Limited and Hasilwood Management Services Limited  
 4th Floor, 5 St Helen’s Place, London, EC3A 6AB

Officers and advisers



7www.arts.ac.uk

Independent members  Lorraine Baldry OBE (retired on 31 August 2018) 
Jamie Bill (retired 31 August 2017) 
Es Devlin OBE (appointed 1 October 2017) 
Harry Gaskell 
Andrew Hochhauser QC 
David Isaac CBE (appointed 1 September 2018) 
David Lindsell (reappointed 1 September 2017) 
Scott Mead 
Louise Moore (appointed 1 October 2017) 
John Parmiter (retired 22 October 2017) 
Jane Slinn (reappointed 1 September 2017) 
Sir John Sorrell CBE (retired 31 July 2018) 
Nicolai Tangen 
Ben Terrett (reappointed 1 September 2017)  
Alison Woodhams (reappointed 1 September 2018) 
Lola Young, Baroness Young of Hornsey, OBE (retired 11 July 2018)

Vice-Chancellor Nigel Carrington 
ex officio

Members nominated Theresa Finnigan
by academic board Professor Susan Orr
 

Student member Hansika Jethnani (retired 31 July 2018)
 Anita Israel (appointed 1 August 2018)

Co-opted members Aisha Cahn (retired 18 November 2018) 
 David Fison
 Diana Osagie
 Sim Scavazza (reappointed 1 September 2017)
 Sir Eric Thomas (reappointed 1 September 2018)

Co-opted staff members Kyran Joughin (reappointed 1 September 2017)
 Matthew Phull (appointed 1 September 2017)

Clerk Stephen Marshall

Court of Governors



University of the Arts London 
Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 31 July 2018

8

Summary of key statistics

3D Design and Product Design  557
Accessories Footwear and Jewellery  506
Animation Interactive Film and Sound  1,190
Architecture and Spatial Design  908
Business & Management and Science  1,901
Communication and Graphic Design  1,980
Curation and Culture  508
Fashion Design  2,045
FE & Preparation for HE 1,640
Fine Art  2,079
Illustration  853
Journalism PR Media & Publishing  2,087
Postgraduate Research 162
Photography  861
Textiles and Materials  828
Theatre Screen and Performance Design  1,133

Number of students at 
the University by subject

Undergraduate 14,663

Number of students 
at the University by 
course level

Postgraduate 3,188

Further education 1,387

Six Colleges 
19,238 students
1,319 academic, research and technical staff
2,107 associate lectures
1,860 support staff

UK 48%

other EU 15%

Our 
student 
profile

International 37%

Number of students 
Awarding Body
Short Courses
Awarding Body 48,000

Short Courses 18,516



9www.arts.ac.uk

3D Design and Product Design  557
Accessories Footwear and Jewellery  506
Animation Interactive Film and Sound  1,190
Architecture and Spatial Design  908
Business & Management and Science  1,901
Communication and Graphic Design  1,980
Curation and Culture  508
Fashion Design  2,045
FE & Preparation for HE 1,640
Fine Art  2,079
Illustration  853
Journalism PR Media & Publishing  2,087
Postgraduate Research 162
Photography  861
Textiles and Materials  828
Theatre Screen and Performance Design  1,133

Number of students at 
the University by subject

Undergraduate 14,663

Number of students 
at the University by 
course level

Postgraduate 3,188

Further education 1,387

Six Colleges 
19,238 students
1,319 academic, research and technical staff
2,107 associate lectures
1,860 support staff

UK 48%

other EU 15%

Our 
student 
profile

International 37%

Number of students 
Awarding Body
Short Courses
Awarding Body 48,000

Short Courses 18,516



University of the Arts London 
Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 31 July 2018

10



11www.arts.ac.uk

According to Government data, creative art and design has 
the highest percentage of self-employed graduates out of 
all subjects at one, three and five years after graduation. 
The most recent figures show that UAL has the third highest 
number of graduate start-ups in the UK. We expect this 
position to improve, thanks to our extensive enterprise 
development support to students and graduates.

Our alumni have enjoyed another good year. Andria 
Zafirakou, alumna of Central Saint Martins, won the Global 
Teaching Prize 2018 for her work at a North London school. 
Her Majesty The Queen visited the front row for the first time 
at Central Saint Martins alumnus Richard Quinn’s London 
Fashion Week show, presenting him with the inaugural 
Queen Elizabeth II Award for British Design. Wimbledon 
theatre design alumna Lubaina Himid was the first Black 
woman to win the Turner Prize 2017, nominated alongside 
fellow Wimbledon alumnus Hurvin Anderson. UAL drawing 
tutor Miriam Escofet won the 2018 BP Portrait Award 
at her fifth nomination for ‘An Angel At My Table’. Sarah 
Greenwood landed two of five Oscar nominations for Best 
Production Design, including her work on Darkest Hour, 
directed by alumnus Joe Wright. UAL alumni achieved six 
British Fashion Awards, Sony World Photographer of the 
Year, and Best Design at the Evening Standard Theatre 
Awards. And Central Saint Martins alumna Rungano Nyoni 
took home the Outstanding Debut BAFTA Prize for her 
feature ‘I Am Not A Witch’, thanking “all the people that said 
no, frankly, because it really spurred me on”.

On a personal note, I have been privileged to work with 
UAL’s outstanding academics, technicians, students and 
professional staff for the last 10 years. I have never been 
more excited about the future of this wonderful institution. 
Our growth in turnover over the last decade (rising to 
£308.9m this year) has been exceptional and places us 
among the leading London universities alongside Imperial, 
UCL, Kings, Queen Mary and London School of Economics. 

Looking forward, UAL can credibly aspire to be counted 
amongst the great universities of the world, because our 
academic influence and financial stability enable us to 
pursue an ambitious strategy. The world needs creativity 
in all areas of society and public life, and across business, 
science and innovation. UAL is able and willing to play an 
important part in this, through a curriculum that embraces 
the arts.

 
 
Nigel Carrington
Vice-Chancellor

Creativity stands with literacy and numeracy as the 
foundation of success in life, learning and the economy. 
UAL is therefore strongest when we go beyond the 
conventional boundaries imposed on creative education. 
In our new academic strategy, we position UAL to work 
across disciplines, across colleges, across sectors and in 
symbiosis with STEM subjects, particularly technology. 

This multi-disciplinary approach has already led to wide-
ranging research collaborations on internationally significant 
subjects. Following a £5.5m Arts and Humanities Research 
Council (AHRC) research grant, UAL leads a consortium 
of UCL, Loughborough, Cambridge, Leeds, Queen Mary 
and the V&A to support the development of clusters in the 
fashion, textiles and technology industries. Separately, we 
won a research award on anti-microbial resistance in the 
Indian poultry meat supply chain with Edinburgh University, 
the Royal Veterinary College and Royal Holloway. And 
we are working with Coventry University on how modest 
fashion affects UK women’s working lives. 

We have established the Creative Computing Institute 
in response to industry demand for a disciplinary bridge 
between technology and creativity. We have already 
launched its first courses, and students will join the new 
BSc and MSc Creative Computing in September 2019. We 
will shortly announce high-profile international professorial 
and doctoral appointments in the research fields of machine 
learning and artificial intelligence, alongside a number of 
major industry partnerships.

UAL shapes the agenda within our fields through disruptive 
thinking. I am especially proud of the outcome of the three-
year Black Artists and Modernism research collaboration 
with Middlesex University. This project aims to re-write 
British art history, giving Black artists their rightful place at 
the heart of narratives of modern and contemporary art 
practice. Our new partnership with Iniva at Chelsea will 
build on this momentum in the years to come.

UAL was again among the top 6 in the world for Art 
and Design in the 2018 QS World University Rankings, 
cementing our status as a global leader of art and design 
education. This is because we operate in distinctive ways 
beyond our core academic mission.

We are in the vanguard of academic engagement with 
industry through our knowledge exchange strategy, with 
arguably the greatest reach into the creative economy of 
any major institution. Our Awarding Body offers one of the 
most popular qualifications in further education and has a 
strong widening participation programme with schools  
and colleges. UAL Short Courses Limited leads the sector 
(with a turnover this year of almost £11.0 m), and we  
have created a suite of short courses that focus on  
creative business. 

Vice-Chancellor’s foreword



University of the Arts London 
Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 31 July 2018

12

Overview
UAL supplies the world’s need for creativity. We are 
among the most renowned international institutions in arts, 
design, fashion and communication. Our critical mass and 
reputation allow us to take a leading role in the creative 
economy in the UK, Europe and beyond. We actively 
influence global cultural debates through the diversity and 
international reach of our staff, students and alumni.

As a creative university, our future is formed by the 
imagination, energy and skills of our staff, students, alumni, 
honoraries and the many academics from other institutions 
who work closely with us each year. Our success is 
founded upon the specific histories, identities and 
achievements of our six constituent colleges, and their long 
engagement with creative, intellectual and professional life:

— Camberwell College of Arts
— Central Saint Martins
— Chelsea College of Arts
— London College of Communication
— London College of Fashion
— Wimbledon College of Arts

We are internationally regarded as the UK’s pre-eminent 
provider of undergraduate art and design education. 
In 2018 UAL maintained its standing in the QS World 
Rankings, sixth in the world for art and design for the 
second year running. Demand is high with 27,935 
applications for 4,160 places in 2017/18. We are in the top 
six (out of more than 40) higher education institutions by 
total income in Greater London.

19,200 students study on 200 accredited courses in art 
and design at UAL. These cover all levels of study, from 
foundation diplomas and undergraduate degrees through to 
postgraduate taught and research degrees. UAL also leads 
the sector in pre-degree creative arts qualifications through 
our Ofqual-approved UAL Awarding Body, which awards 
specialist qualifications to 48,000 students across the UK in 
creative disciplines including Foundation in Art and Design. 

UAL delivers an extensive range of non-accredited short 
courses and executive education to 70,000 students a 
year. Short courses, our customised training, accounted for 
nearly £11 million of income in 2017/18.

International students from 113 countries form 37% of 
our student body, with a further 15% drawn from the 
27 EU countries. The multinational experience within 
our colleges is a key reason for the success of our 
alumni on the international stage and our strength in 
graduate employment across all student groups. UAL has 
agreements with 250 international institutions under which 
students study at UAL as part of exchange, study abroad, 
or government sponsorship programmes. UAL is among 
the leading UK institutions for staff and student use of the 
Erasmus scheme which provides opportunities to study  
or work in another European country. 

Our alumni enter creative employment rapidly, achieve early 
recognition and become influential names in arts, design, 
fashion, communication, media and performance. Just 
under half the 80 Royal Academicians are UAL alumni; 
many others are serving or former staff. Our alumni are 
heavily represented in the most prestigious art and design 
awards and include multiple winners of the BP Portrait 
Award; Jerwood Prize; Taylor Wessing Photographic 
Portrait Prize; Minerva Medal; BAFTAs, Golden Globes and 
Oscars. UAL alumni have won the Turner Prize 17 times in 
the 30 years since its inception, featuring in 25 shortlists 
and accounting for over half of all nominees. UAL alumni 
make up half the recipients of British Designer of the Year 
and over half the fashion designers showing during most 
London Fashion Weeks. Seven have won the Prince Philip 
Designers Prize. Over a third of the 148 Royal Designers  
for Industry are UAL graduates.

These factors – our physical and digital environments, 
our staff profile, engagement with industry and London’s 
creative cultures, the international and cultural diversity of 
our students, and how we prepare students for professional 
practice – account for the extraordinary success of our 
students and graduates.

Strategic review
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Our Strategic Priorities
The university focuses on four key strategic objectives,  
as set out in our strategy for 2015-22:
 
Delivering transformative education requires us to ensure 
that all our students can reach their full potential. We 
work in partnership with them to develop and deliver an 
education that is responsive, responsible, imaginative and 
inspirational.

Developing world-leading research and enterprise requires 
us to create and apply knowledge that develops our 
disciplines, makes a positive contribution to society and the 
economy, and generates new sources of income to support 
our academic ambition.

Communication and collaboration requires us to place the 
University at the centre of the debate about the future of 
arts, design, fashion and communication and to improve 
the ways in which we engage with academic, cultural and 
business partners in the UK and across the world.

Building an inspirational environment requires us to 
have a world-class physical environment and underlying 
infrastructure. This is to support our students and staff in 
their academic ambitions and increase our engagement 
with our wider communities.

Delivering Transformative Education
We regularly review our educational provision across UAL 
and are delivering ambitious initiatives in performance, 
visual arts, business and digital creativity. 

We developed our new Academic Strategy with input from 
over a thousand staff. It outlines how we will enhance 
teaching and lead new thinking in creative education at 
global and national levels. The Academic Enhancement 
Model is at the heart of the strategy, improving student 
experience and attainment using a targeted approach 
across all colleges. Over 700 students and 100 staff 
participated in the first year of our OfS Catalyst-funded 
Changing Mindsets project, focusing on attainment 
differentials of Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic and 
working-class students.

To support the Academic Strategy, we introduced new 
academic career pathways to develop staff skills in 
teaching, research and knowledge exchange. In parallel, 
we recruited four deans as part of our new five-year 
strategy, Creating New Histories, to build on the individual 
strengths of Camberwell, Chelsea and Wimbledon Colleges 
of Arts. This enabled us to relaunch Wimbledon College of 
Arts as a Total Performance School, aiming to become the 
world’s leading international performance institution. From 
2019, Wimbledon will bring together all main performance 
disciplines, with students working in teams to design, 
perform and manage theatre, performance and live events 
to professional level.

In a series of firsts, we completed the first teaching year of 
the joint Central Saint Martins and Birkbeck MBA, melding 
art and business schools to place creative approaches 
and social engagement at the heart of management and 
leadership. We celebrated our first cohort of overseas 
graduates with UAL’s accredited partner, Hong Kong 
University School of Professional and Continuing Education, 
meeting the need for professionals and entrepreneurs in 
Hong Kong’s growing cultural sector. UAL Futures began 
work to define the digital capabilities students need to 
thrive in a connected future. And Professor Susan Orr was 
appointed Chair of the government’s Teaching Excellence 
Framework panel pilot for art and design.  

Diversity and postcolonial narratives are an increasing 
focus for UAL, with many initiatives over the year. Chelsea 
College of Arts announced a major partnership with Iniva, 
the leading radical visual arts institution, to study the social, 
cultural and political impact of globalisation. Iniva works 
with British-born and based visual artists of African and 
Asian descent. The partnership will include co-location at 
Chelsea, including Iniva’s internationally significant Stuart 
Hall Library. Based on a successful pilot, we launched the 



University of the Arts London 
Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 31 July 2018

14

Refugee Journalism Project, a two-year initiative at London 
College of Communication with the Guardian Foundation 
and the Refugee Council. It will deliver training and work 
placements in London, Midlands and the North for 65 
refugees with a journalism background. UAL worked 
with our Students’ Union on the Liberate my Curriculum 
campaign; and our Decolonising the Arts Curriculum zine 
featured contributions from students and staff. UAL has 
begun to diversify our library collections, purchasing texts 
recommended by students. 

Research and Enterprise
UAL enjoys a vibrant research culture as we work towards 
our submissions for the Research Excellence Framework 
2021 with our distinctive strengths in diversity, technology 
and sustainability. As a sign of our standing in the field, 
Dean of Research Professor Oriana Baddeley has been 
appointed to the REF2021 sub-panel for Art and Design: 
History Theory, Practice.

We increasingly put our expertise into large-scale projects 
that bridge creative arts, business and science. Our new 
Creative Computing Institute works at the intersection of 
creativity and computational technologies. Following a 
successful international professorial search, we appointed 
Professor Mick Grierson from Goldsmiths College to the 
institute, with a specialism in machine learning and artificial 
intelligence in the context of music and visualisation 
tools. This is an important field for UAL, and we are also 
a founding partner of the £20 million Institute of Coding 
which aims to develop and deliver innovative, industry-
focused education across the UK. Meanwhile, London 
College of Fashion partnered with Microsoft to conceive 
the Future of Fashion incubator, and its Fashion Innovation 
Agency delivered the first digitally augmented fashion 
presentation with designer Steven Tai at London Fashion 
Week AW18. 

London College of Fashion marked the 10th anniversary of 
its Centre for Sustainable Fashion with an advisory role in 
the ‘Fashioned From Nature’ exhibition at the V&A, curating 
two interactive installations. The Centre announced a 
partnership with ASOS on a bespoke programme for their 
designers, taking into account the whole product lifecycle. 
The Centre also partnered with Kering on the world’s first 
online course in luxury fashion and sustainability.

We concluded our three-year AHRC research project, 
Black Artists and Modernism, led by Professor Sonia 
Boyce with Middlesex University. This included a national 
audit of BAME artworks in public collections, the Speech 
Acts exhibition at Manchester Art Gallery and the BBC 
documentary Whoever Heard of a Black Artist? Britain’s 
Hidden Art History. 

66,000 students from 70 countries took part in learning 
activities delivered by Academic Enterprise in its third year 
of operation. This covers income-generating business in 
short courses, English-language course delivery and the 
UAL Awarding Body. 

Knowledge exchange will be a significant strategic growth 
opportunity for UAL, with over 2,000 students learning 
through external projects for 100 companies this year. We 
have a sound basis of engagement with industry and the 
community, effective funding from local and international 
grant givers, and increasingly emphasise place-making 
around our colleges across London. Academic staff are 
central to success in knowledge exchange, and we  
have put in place a new academic career pathway to 
support this.

We opened our pioneering retail space, Not Just A Shop, 
selling design-led products and artwork by our talented 
alumni. Funds generated are reinvested in our enterprise 
programme, which includes talks, workshops, funding  
and one-to-one business education and support for  
our students.

As ever, we work closely with cultural institutions. Our 
Stanley Kubrick touring show has been shown across 
the world, drawing large crowds and heading for a major 
exhibition at the Design Museum in 2019. Professor Claire 
Wilcox and alumna Circe Henestrosa co-curated the 
blockbuster V&A exhibition, Frida Khalo: Making Herself Up, 
and co-authored a book about the artist. And Central Saint 
Martins repeated its success at Tate Exchange with Studio 
Complex: How to survive as an artist in the metropolis.

Communication & Collaboration
We aim to be a strategic and critical partner for government 
at local, regional and national levels, making the case for 
creative education. This includes contributions to policy 
development through consultation responses, membership 
of working groups and roundtables, and a visits programme 
which this year included the Foreign Secretary and  
Culture Minister. 

Regardless of the deal scenario, we expect Brexit to 
affect our EU staff body, predominantly early to mid-career 
academics and technicians who represent the future of 
the institution. Our EU student numbers are anticipated to 
fall by up to 50 per cent due to the likely abrupt change in 
loans and fees policy. Both factors will damage our vibrant, 
multinational community. Even though we believe we can 
mitigate the financial impact, some postgraduate courses 
could become unviable in attendance terms and the 
student body as a whole would be less diverse. 

Strategic review
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We may be unable to increase international or home 
recruitment quickly enough to compensate, especially as 
national government pre-18 education policy is damaging 
the applicant pipeline of creative institutions across the UK. 
GCSE entries in art and design fell again this year, as did 
applications for creative courses. This will be compounded 
by the rushed schedule for the introduction of T-levels, 
driven to some extent by faulty assumptions about the 
nature of creative employment. As a result, a generation 
of young people are less likely to find employment within 
the booming creative industries, and those industries 
themselves will be less successful.

We work closely with local authorities and our community. 
This year, Camden won the Mayor’s Cultural Impact Award 
with our support and Southwark was announced as one 
of 11 boroughs to be funded under the Mayor of London’s 
Creative Enterprise Zones. Southwark Council partnered 
with Camberwell College of Arts on an Arts Bursary 
Scheme pilot. London College of Communication  
is shortlisted for a prestigious social impact award run  
by the Lord Mayor of London.

We continue to improve student engagement. UAL received 
the Chartered Institute of Public Relations (CIPR) Excellence 
Award 2018 for our work on the student journey called the 
Big Welcome – a collaborative project with the Students’ 
Union. Our newly launched annual UAL Student Survey,  
an internal survey undertaken during the first and second 
year of study, will help us to gather feedback and identify 
areas of good practice and implement actions. 

UAL had one of our most successful fundraising years 
on record, with total income of over £5m in 2017–18. 
This result was secured in the face of a 12% year-on-year 
decrease in secured income across all universities.

Inspirational environment
UAL makes a long-term cultural, economic and educational 
commitment to the communities in which we work. Our 
new £69m campus at Camberwell College of Arts was 
opened in March by our Chancellor Grayson Perry. He 
explained that the regeneration will enable students to 
“craft, create and take risks”. We are working to secure 
the future of creative industries in the area through the new 
Peckham & Camberwell creative corridor, which we have 
created in partnership with Southwark Council, community 
organisations and local creative businesses.

Alongside the BBC, V&A, the Smithsonian and Sadler’s 
Wells, we signed an agreement to develop our new campus 
at East Bank in Stratford, opening in 2022. To ensure 
its success, we are long-term partners with the Greater 
London Authority to create the Fashion District, an initiative 
aiming to make East London the global hub of fashion 
technology by: bringing fashion manufacturing and design 
back to the area; boosting growth through thousands of 
new jobs; improving skills and training; and providing new 
affordable workspaces.

London College of Communication’s future building at 
Elephant & Castle has achieved planning approval as part 
of the wider scheme to regenerate the area. The college 
also completed its Leading Places partnership with London 
South Bank University, backed by Lambeth and Southwark 
Councils, to foster growth in the local creative and digital 
industries.

Sustainability is increasingly important to the way we deliver 
our business, having secured accreditations ISO 14001 
and ISO 50001 for environmental and energy management. 
We were finalists in six categories of the 2018 Green Gown 
Awards, recognising national best practice in sustainability. 
We achieved Soil Association Gold Standard through our 
caterer, BaxterStorey.

UAL continues to invest in the wellbeing of our students, 
staff and visitors. We have created the new post of Director 
of Health & Safety to ensure a good working environment 
for staff, students and visitors. As student mental health 
is scrutinised across the sector, UAL offers an extensive 
mental Counselling and Health Advice service. Our 
spend per student ranks joint first with Oxford University, 
according to The Guardian’s assessment.

Attention to our physical environment is backed by 
sustained investment in the digital environment, focusing 
on the student experience. We aim to transform the way 
we store, administer and manage all aspects of student 
information through the Student System Replacement 
project, a single system to manage the student journey.

Strategic review
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Financial review
In presenting its results the University follows The  
Financial Reporting Standard 102 (FRS 102) and  
Statement of Recommended Practice – Accounting for 
Further and Higher Education 2015 (FEHE SORP 2015).

Income
The University has had another successful year generating 
a surplus of £22.4 million (2017: £17.4 million) which 
equates to 7.3% (2017: 6.2%) of total income. The whole of 
the surplus is required to fund UAL’s capital programme to 
significantly enhance accommodation for London College 
of Communication and London College of Fashion. The 
surplus for the year includes a pension charge in line with 
FRS 102 requirements of £18.7 million (2017: £9.5 million), 
which is the difference between pension charges calculated 
by the actuary and the cash paid by the University during 
the year. It has arisen due to changes in the assumptions 
used by the actuary in their calculations and slight changes 
in the composition of the scheme membership.

We continue to develop our enterprise activities to help 
diversify our income streams and a Director of Academic 
Enterprise is focusing our work in these areas. UAL Short 
Courses Limited, the University’s main trading subsidiary, 
continues to help support college activities and there were 
significant increases in the income and contribution from 
the Language Centre, Awarding Body and Study Abroad.

The University continues to receive high application levels 
and strong place acceptance rates. This reflects our 
continued global appeal as a leading creative University.

As in previous years, the University’s financial performance 
was underpinned by strong overseas fees which increased 
to £116.6 million (2017: £98.1 million). International 
students from outside the EU now comprise 37% of all 
students and help create a powerfully diverse community.

Bursaries and scholarships
It is vital that the University remains open to talented 
students regardless of their background or financial means. 
To support students with higher fees and those in hardship, 
the University offers a package of scholarships, bursaries 
and other support, spend during 2017–18 being over £4.3 
million. We aim to ensure that students from less well-off 
backgrounds are not deterred from applying. We have been 
successful in widening participation and are determined to 
ensure that higher fees do not impede further success.
 
Expenditure
Total expenditure increased by £22.6 million and includes 
a 7.7% increase in staff costs as a result of the net effect 
of the nationally negotiated pay award; pay progression; 
pension charges; and a small overall increase in  
staff numbers.

UAL has continued to focus resources on the student 
experience. Other operating expenses have increased 
by 10.5%. Key projects being undertaken to improve the 
experience for students and staff include investment in our 
student admissions process; implementing a new student 
records system; rationalising and improving our online 
estate; refreshing IT infrastructure, computers and devices; 
and investing additional resources in the upkeep of  
its estate.

Financial review
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55p Teaching and 
        research

22p Buildings, halls, 
catering and retail

10p Running the colleges

8p Central costs

5p External contracts, 
interest and depreciation

in every £1 spent by 
the University of the 

Arts London

38% International 
        student fees

9% Grants and external contracts

14% Halls, catering, retail
and other income

39% Home /EU student fees

Total income: 
£308.9m

Where UAL’s money comes from

Where the money goes

Financial review
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How costs split between staff and other costs

Non-staff costs by category

40% non-staff costs60% staff costs

Staff costs by area

83% teaching related

6% other

11% central costs

Non-staff costs by area

58% other

38% teaching related

4% central costs

Academic services

Cross university services 
(including Libraries, Registry, 
Outreach, Estates, IT, Finance 
and HR)

General education

Teaching departments

£10m

£5m

£15m

£20m

£25m

£30m

Student services

Repairs and maintainance

Halls, catering, retail 
and external contracts

Premises

Depreciation and interest
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Staff costs by category

71% college-based staff:

Teaching   £52m
Technical   £16m
Research   £6m
Administration  £19m
Short courses and other £29m

29% cross-university staff

including Libraries, Registry, 
Outreach, Estates, IT, Finance 
and HR

Why does the university make an operating surplus?
Institutions with major capital programmes generally aim for a target surplus of at least 10%. 

Total income

To invest in the facilities 
we need to deliver the 

academic strategy

To guard against events 
that might damage UAL’s 

financial health

To ensure UAL can 
replace and refurbish its 
buildings and equipment

To ensure UAL’s 
activities remain 

financially sustainable 
in the long term

Total expenditure Operating surplus

=-£308.9m £286.5m £22.4m

Financial review
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Balance sheet
The University’s balance sheet continues to strengthen with 
net assets totalling £343.1 million (2017: £285.6 million) 
resulting from an increased surplus, a reduction in the 
pension liability and well managed working capital. Student 
debtor levels continue to be well controlled notwithstanding 
the increase in income and the general economic climate.

Pensions
The University’s employees belong to two principal pension 
schemes; the Teachers’ Pension Scheme (TPS) and the 
Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS). A small 
number of employees are members of the Universities 
Superannuation Scheme (USS). 

Teachers Pension Scheme (TPS)
The TPS is an unfunded defined benefit scheme with 
contributions, which are made on a pay-as-you-go basis, 
credited to the Exchequer under arrangements governed 
by the Superannuation Act 1972. Under the provisions of 
FRS 102 it is classed as a multi-employer pension scheme 
as the University is unable to identify its share of the 
underlying assets and liabilities of the scheme. Accordingly, 
it is largely exempt from the requirement of FRS 102 to 
incorporate the financial position of the scheme within its 
year end financial statements. 

Universities Superannuation Scheme (USS)
The USS is a funded defined benefit scheme and is also 
classed as a multi-employer pension scheme so that it is 
treated in the financial statements in the same way as the 
TPS detailed above.

Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS)
The LGPS is a funded defined benefit scheme with 
assets held in separate trustee administered funds. The 
actuary’s report, prepared in accordance with accounting 
standards, calculates a funding shortfall of £141.0 million 
at 31 July 2018 which compares to £157.2 million at 31 
July 2017. The decrease in liability is largely due to a slight 
rise in corporate bond yields which are used to discount 
future pension liabilities, coupled with a significantly higher 
valuation of assets in the fund at the year end.

Liquidity and treasury management
The University’s cash and short-term deposit balances 
increased to £219.9 million (2017: £193.0 million). Most 
of the funds have been ring-fenced for the forthcoming 
capital programme. A policy is in place for the investment 
of short-term funds which has been endorsed by the 
Finance Committee and the University’s internal auditors. 
The University’s funds are held in short-term deposits of 
up to one year in such a way as to optimise returns to the 

University while protecting the capital sum and ensuring that 
liquid funds are available to meet operating cash outflows 
and capital expenditure as they fall due.

At 31 July 2018 UAL had outstanding long-term debt 
financing of £91.2 million (2017: £95.9 million) which has 
been used to finance our capital programme. The loan is 
repayable in equal instalments over 25 years. UAL’s gearing 
ratio (external borrowing to income) is well within the 
University’s target. The University also has in place a further 
£80m facility to fund its future capital developments.

Summary
With a healthy surplus, tight control of working capital,  
and a balance sheet that continues to strengthen,  
these financial results underpin the many initiatives being 
taken to deliver our strategy in each of its four strands to: 
transform education and enhance the student experience; 
communicate and collaborate as a world leading 
University; develop world leading research and enterprise 
by diversifying and expanding income streams; and build 
an inspirational environment by generating the funds that 
are essential for its capital programme. This includes 
‘transformative’ new campuses for London College of 
Communication and London College of Fashion.

Risks and uncertainties
As explained in the Corporate Governance statement,  
the University has in place an embedded risk management 
strategy and policy which have been endorsed by senior 
management, the University’s internal auditors and the 
Audit Committee. The risk register is regularly considered 
and updated for changing key risks, priorities and  
mitigating factors.

The current high risks detailed on the University’s risk 
register are: 

Student recruitment challenges and satisfaction
The University has achieved its undergraduate home/
EU and overseas student number targets for both 2017 
–18 and 2018 –19. By continuing to meet our recruitment 
targets we will ensure that the University remains 
financially strong and is able to finance its planned capital 
programmes. However, recruitment for future years remains 
uncertain due to the many developing and changing factors 
that may impact our ability to continue to meet our targets. 
Meeting and exceeding the expectations of students is 
a key focus for the University whilst the NSS and other 
measures of student satisfaction continue to be below our 
aspirations. The new academic strategy, led by the Deputy 
Vice-Chancellor (Academic), will seek to introduce new 
measures to help promote higher satisfaction levels. 

Financial review
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Capital programme objectives not achieved 
Rationalising and improving our property portfolio is a priority 
for the University. The risk rating of this area is high to reflect 
the possible significant impact in the medium term on the 
student experience should UAL not be able to significantly 
improve the estate and accommodation for our students and 
staff in the expected timeframe.

Major change in government funding and policy for HE 
and FE including development of new arrangements for 
assessment and funding by Office for Students (OfS)
This risk reflects the uncertainty and potential impact of 
possible major changes in the funding landscape in the 
coming years. To date the University has done well to 
manage the impact of changes in funding on its overall 
financial position. However, uncertainty is likely to continue 
for some time.

Major terrorism incident in London
In view of the continuing terror threat around the world, this 
risk reflects the high likelihood and potential significant impact 
of such an attack in London. Various actions have been taken 
to plan for and mitigate the impact should there be such  
an attack.

Cyber security 
There is a continuing threat to the University’s IT systems 
from cyber attack. The University is taking ongoing steps 
to strengthen and maintain its defences against an attack, 
including increasing awareness among staff and students and 
further developing its infrastructure, systems and processes.

Moving forward
The results for the year and strong balance sheet put 
the University in a good position to continue to deliver 
its strategic objectives and progress its ambitious capital 
plans. The University has produced a budget for 2018 –19 
which:

–  Manages changes in funding streams and achieves a 
balanced position.

–  Permits full compliance with Office for Students (OfS) 
requirements for the direct benefit of students by setting 
aside a total of £7.0 million for bursaries and outreach.

–  Maintains postgraduate scholarships to directly 
support students and to help and encourage growth in 
postgraduate student recruitment.

–  Allows the University to continue its investment in specific 
IT, estates, and other projects for the benefit of students 
and staff in line with UAL’s 2015 – 22 strategy.

–  Provides for the agreed pay award and expected  
pay progression.

–  Maintains the budget surplus at the necessary level 
to generate significant funds to finance UAL’s capital 
programme including new buildings for London College 
of Fashion and London College of Communication for  
the benefit of students and staff.

Five-Year summary of performance

 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
      pre FRS 102

Total income (£m) 308.9 281.4 280.9 263.8 249.2

Surplus generated before exceptional items (£m) 22.4 17.4 26.7 25.3 26.1

Cash balances (£m) 106.6 67.4 60.1 71.6 65.8

Net Assets (£m) 343.1 285.6 251.5 274.5 253.4

Key performance indicators

 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
      pre FRS 102

Ratio of surplus (before exceptional items) to total income (%) 7.2 6.2 9.5 8.6 10.5

Ratio of staff costs to total income (%) 55 56 52 52 51

Days ratio of net liquid assets to total expenditure 137 94 87 109 110

Gearing ratio (%) 30 34 39 36 40
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Public benefit statement
University of the Arts London is an exempt Charity under 
the terms of the Charities Act 2011.

In setting and reviewing the University’s objectives and 
activities, the Court of Governors has due regard to the 
Charity Commission’s guidance on the reporting of public 
benefit and particularly to its supplementary guidance on 
the advancement of education. This statement has been 
included in response to the formal reporting requirement 
introduced by the Higher Education Funding Council for 
England (HEFCE) as the principal regulator of English higher 
education institutions under the Charities Act 2011.

The overall aim of the University of the Arts London, as set 
out in the Education Reform Act 1988, is:
—  to provide higher education
—  to provide further education
—  to carry out research and to publish the results of 

the research or any other material arising out of or 
connected with it in such manner as the University  
sees fit.

In implementing its aims and objectives the University is 
guided by the vision, values and priorities set out in its 
2015 – 22 strategy. The University’s core activities deliver 
substantial public benefit and to support this assertion the 
University aims to be transparent and accountable in the 
way that it manages any public funding that it receives.

The University continuously works to provide public benefit. 
Initiatives taken during the year include –
—  The provision of significant bursaries, scholarships and 

fee waivers to widen participation on our courses.
—  Engagement with the community through a diverse 

schedule of events throughout the year, from summer 
degree shows to seminars and workshops.

—  Progression partnership agreements designed to 
promote the progression of students from further 
education institutions to University of the Arts London 
higher education courses.

—  Projects in partnership with local authorities, government 
departments and agencies, neighbourhood groups, local 
businesses and residents to ensure that we engage with 
the wider community in a way which is sensitive to the 
area’s people and urban landscape.

 

Sustainability strategy
University of the Arts London aims to create a culture of 
environmental stewardship in order to develop and integrate 
sustainable and ethical practice throughout all aspects 
of our life and work. Art, design and communication 
education can play a vital role in the development of 
a more sustainable future – the majority of a product’s 
environmental and economic costs can be determined 
during the design process and before production begins. 
UAL must therefore recognise the global implications of its 
activities and responsibilities. UAL wishes to maximise the 
positive environmental, social and economic impacts that 
result from these activities and operate within an ethical and 
responsible framework, specifically the UAL Environmental 
Management System, ISO50001, the University’s ethical 
investment policy and Principles for Responsible Investment 
(which is supported by the United Nations), and the UAL 
Carbon Management Plan.

Governors
A list of the members of the University’s Court of Governors 
is set out on page 7.

Disclosure of information to auditors
The governors in office at the date of approval of this 
report confirm that, so far as they are each aware, there 
is no relevant audit information of which the University’s 
auditors are unaware; and each governor has taken all the 
steps that they ought to have taken as a governor to make 
themselves aware of any relevant audit information and to 
establish that the University’s auditors are aware of that 
information.

Internal and external auditors
A market testing exercise for internal audit services was 
conducted during 2014 – 15 and a full market test for 
external audit services was undertaken in 2015  – 16. Both 
exercises were in accordance with the University’s financial 
procedures, the Financial Memorandum with HEFCE 
and EU procurement requirements. KPMG LLP were re-
appointed as the University’s external auditors for the year 
ended 31 July 2018. In May 2015 the Court of Governors 
approved the appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
to provide internal audit services to the University for the 
year ended 31 July 2016 initially for a one year period but 
renewable annually up to a maximum of four years. PwC 
were reappointed by the Court of Govenors for the year 
ended 31 July 2018.

Public benefit Governance review
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Nigel Carrington
Vice-Chancellor
19 November 2018

David Isaac CBE
Chair of the Court  
of Governors
19 November 2018

Creditor payment policy
It is the University’s policy to pay creditors in accordance 
with its statutory obligations or when they fall due for 
payment under the terms of a prevailing contract.  
The majority of suppliers’ invoices for goods and  
services that comply with all relevant terms and  
conditions are paid within 30 days from the invoice  
date, unless other payment terms have been agreed.

Staff and student Involvement
The University places considerable value on the 
involvement of its staff and students and on good 
communication with them. The University provides updates 
to all staff at regular intervals during the year, providing 
information on the University’s progress, performance and 
successes. The University recognises three trade unions 
and there is a formal structure for information, consultation 
and negotiation with their elected representatives. Funds 
are set aside each year for staff development, ensuring 
that technical, management and professional training is 
available to all levels of staff.

Social justice, diversity, and international reach are part 
of the University’s core values, behaviours and goals 
as embodied in our UAL Strategy 2015–22. Here we 
demonstrate how we are committed to creating a diverse 
and inclusive learning and working environment for all 
our students and staff. The Strategy is aligned with our 
Equal Opportunities Policy, our Public Sector Equality Duty 
objectives and the regulatory requirements set by HEFCE 
and Ofsted.

Equality, Diversity and Inclusion
University of the Arts London is committed to celebrating 
our rich diversity and creating a supportive, inclusive 
environment for students, staff and the creative and 
community partners with whom we engage. Our UAL Equal 
Opportunities Policy sets out our commitment to promote 
equality, diversity and inclusion on grounds of age, caring 
responsibilities, disability, gender, nationality, race, religious 
belief (or no belief), sexual orientation, socio-economic 
class or gender identity. We collect and analyse data which 
contains demographic information about the student and 
staff population and monitor the progress made in relation 
to the University’s Public Sector Equality Duty Objectives. 
The Diversity Team supports departments across UAL 
to carry out reviews of their policies and services. We do 
this to identify ways of improving the student and staff 
experience, and ensure UAL promotes equality, in line with 
the Equality Act 2010.

Gender Pay Gap
We take equal pay very seriously at UAL and our gender 
pay gap is significantly smaller than the national average, 
especially in academic and research positions. The latest 
data available, shows that some female Directors, Deans, 
Associate Deans and Professors were paid more than men 
but at Deputy Director level and in jobs at lower grades, 
men received the higher salaries. We recognise there is 
still work to do. The overall University gender pay gap was 
5.6% in favour of men, which is below the sector average.

Health and safety
The University aspires to achieve a positive health and 
safety culture. This requires commitment and active 
co-operation by staff and students alike, supported by 
sufficient resources, training and guidance. The University 
is committed to providing a safe and healthy working 
environment through:

–  the use of materials, equipment and machinery that are 
safe and do not present unacceptable risks to health;

–  information, instruction, training and supervision as 
necessary to ensure all staff and students can work 
safely;

–  the development of safe systems of work, reflecting best 
practice, so that staff and students expect good health 
and safety practices as a matter of course.

The University believes commitment to health and safety 
is essential in the proper execution of management 
responsibilities. It therefore ensures all managers have 
the necessary competencies and skills to achieve this. 
Health and safety is an integral part of planning within the 
University at all levels.

Conclusion
The University continues to strengthen financially and 
academically. This has been achieved through the effort of 
the University’s staff. We pass on the thanks of the Court of 
Governors to them all for their continued efforts.
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Corporate governance statement

The University is a higher education corporation established 
under Section 121 of the Education Reform Act 1988 and 
an exempt charity under charity legislation. Its governing 
document is the Instrument and Articles of Government 
which were approved by Orders of the Privy Council.

The University is committed to applying best practice in all 
aspects of corporate governance. This summary describes 
the manner in which the University follows the principles set 
out in the Committee of University Chair’s (CUC’s) ‘Higher 
Education Code of Governance’. Its purpose is to help the 
reader of the accounts understand how the principles have 
been applied.

The Court of Governors is the University’s governing body. 
Members of the Court of Governors (known as “governors”) 
are the University’s trustees. The Court of Governors is 
made up principally of external members from whom its 
Chair and Deputy Chair are elected. Also included in its 
membership are University staff members and a nominated 
sabbatical officer of the Students’ Union as student 
governor. No governors are remunerated for their work  
on the Court.

The Court of Governors is responsible for the University’s 
system of internal control and for reviewing its effectiveness. 
Such a system is designed to mitigate rather than eliminate 
the risk of failure to achieve business objectives and can 
only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance 
against material misstatement or loss.

The Court of Governors is of the view that there is an 
ongoing process for identifying, evaluating and managing 
the University’s significant risks; that it has been in place  
for the year ended 31 July 2018 and up to the date of 
approval of the annual report and accounts; that it is 
regularly reviewed by the Court; and that it accords with  
the internal control guidance for directors in the UK 
Corporate Governance Code, as deemed appropriate  
for higher education.

In line with regulatory guidance, the University has in place 
a risk management strategy and policy which have been 
considered and endorsed by senior management, the 
University’s internal auditors, the Audit Committee (the 
governors’ lead body for assessing whether the University 
is effectively managing its risks).

Consideration of risk and associated control mechanisms 
is a standing item on the agendas of the Audit Committee 
and other Committees, such as Finance Comittee and 
People Strategy Committee where the risks are relevant to 
them. The Audit Committee’s role in this area is to ensure 
a high level review of the arrangements for internal control. 
The Court’s agenda includes regular items for consideration 
of risk and control and receives reports thereon from senior 
management and the Audit Committee. The emphasis is on 
obtaining the relevant degree of assurance and not merely 
reporting by exception.

At its meeting on 19 November 2018, the Court received 
the results of the annual assessment carried out by the 
Audit Committee for the year ended 31 July 2018. The 
Committee considered documentation from the senior 
management team, internal and external audit, and the 
assessment took account of events since 31 July 2018. 
These conclusions have been reported to our regulator,  
the Office for Students.

The Court of Governors
The Court of Governors meets up to five times per year.  
It endeavours to conduct its business in accordance with 
the principles of the Nolan Committee on standards in 
public life (selflessness; integrity; objectivity; accountability; 
openness; honesty; leadership). The Court of Governors 
has adopted the CUC’s HE Code of Governance. The 
essental components of each element of the HE Code  
of Governance are in place. 

The Court is responsible for the determination of the 
educational character and mission of the University 
and for oversight of its activities, including the strategic 
direction of the University; the effective and efficient use 
of resources; approval of annual estimates of income 
and expenditure; ensuring the solvency of the University 
and safeguarding of assets; the setting of a framework 
for the pay and conditions of staff; and more specifically 
the appointment, appraisal and dismissal of the Vice-
Chancellor, Clerk to the Court and other senior managers. 
The Court is also responsible for appointing (i) governors 
within the parameters set out in the Instrument and Articles 
of Government, and subject to the responsibilities of the 
Committee of Independent Governors; and (ii) its Chair 
and Deputy Chair. The Court has established several 
committees, details of which are set out below. All of 
these Committees are formally constituted with terms of 



27www.arts.ac.uk

reference, and are comprised of mainly external members 
of the Court. The Committees undertake a review of their 
own terms of reference and effectiveness on an annual 
basis. The governing document of the University requires 
the Court of Governors also to establish an Academic 
Board which is comprised of academics, senior managers, 
and representatives of staff and students. There are no 
external members on this Board.

In line with CUC guidance, every four years the Court 
of Governors carries out an effectiveness review of the 
way in which it conducts its business. Such a review was 
undertaken by an external independent adviser in 2017. 
The review concluded that the University “continues to 
have in place a comprehensive framework and structure 
of governance conforming to the requirements of the 
Higher Education Code of Governance and sector best 
practice” while also making recommendations for further 
strengthening some governance processes. The Court 
discussed the conclusions of the review in March 2018  
and agreed a list of action points at its July meeting. 

Key action points following the Effectiveness Review include 
a reduction in the size of the governing body from 25 to 17 
(from 19 to 12 external governors) over the following 18 – 24 
months and the creation of a governor-level advisory group 
on the student experience and related matters. The Court 
agreed to reinforce its policy that reappointment of external 
governors is based on an assessment of their contribution 
and attendance and that the normal period of office is two 
terms (six years) except in special circumstances. The Court 
also reiterated its commitment to improving its own diversity 
in terms of ethnicity and socio-economic background, 
whilst maintaining an appropriate blend of relevant skills 
and experience. The Court has an equal gender balance at 
present. Other agreed actions include the strengthening of 
the relationship between the Court and the Students’ Union 
and the consideration of new technology to improve the 
accessibitliy of board papers.

Academic Board
The Academic Board is responsible for the academic life 
of the University in relation to teaching and research. It 
operates through a committee structure which also covers 
the six constituent colleges of the University. It meets three 
times a year.

Chair’s Committee
The Chair’s Committee meets on an ad-hoc basis to 
consider matters of complexity or urgency for which it has 
been given prior delegated authority to act on behalf of the 
Court of Governors. 

Finance Committee
The Finance Committee, inter alia, recommends to the 
Court the University’s annual revenue and capital budgets 
and monitors performance in relation to the approved 
budgets. The Finance Committee can act for the Court  
on specific financial issues where delegated authority has 
been given. It meets three times a year at minimum.

Nominations Committee
The Nominations Committee, which normally meets, three 
times a year, considers nominations for vacancies in the 
Court membership for external governors in accordance 
with the University’s Instrument and Articles of Government. 
It has approved an appointments process, including a role 
description for governors and a policy on reappointments, 
to assist it in undertaking this duty. An advertisement 
inviting applications for governor vacancies is available 
on the University website. In 2017 the Committee also 
advertised lay governor vacancies using the services of 
online non-executive recruitment specialists.

The Committee regularly reviews the composition of 
the governing body and evaluates the specific skills, 
knowledge, and experience required to fill potential 
vacancies. The Committee also nominates governors  
to fill vacancies on Court committees.

In considering the profile of the governing body and  
any future recruitment the Nominations Committee has 
regard to the University’s Equal Opportunities Policy as  
set out within the Equality and Diversity Framework.  
The Committee seeks to promote gender balance and 
ethnic diversity in its nominations and appointments.  
The Committee has an awareness of the student and  
staff profile in making its recommendations. 
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The Committee also considers potential reappointments 
of serving governors having given due regard to their 
performance and ability to contribute to the Court of 
Governors in the light of the knowledge, skills and 
experience required within the governing body overall. In 
addition, it considers arrangements for elections to staff 
governor vacancies on behalf of the Court of Governors.

Further Education Committee
The Further Education Committee meets three times a year. 
It monitors and reviews the University’s FE provision, as well 
as the quality assurance and self-assessment mechanisms. 
The Committee also reviews UAL Awarding Body’s 
performance and monitors its statements of compliance,  
on behalf of the Court of Governors. 

People Strategy Committee
The People Strategy Committee is responsible for advising 
the Court on employment and other staffing matters for 
which the Court is responsible. The Committee ensures 
that the University has appropriate mechanisms in  
place to deliver effective consultation and negotiations  
with recognised trade unions. The Committee monitors 
 the impact of the University’s People Strategy. The 
Committee also considers the University’s health and  
safety matters, and equality and diversity matters, 
and makes recommendations thereon to the Court of 
Governors. The Committee meets three times a year.

Remuneration Committee
This Committee meets twice a year to consider pay 
structures and to determine the remuneration of senior 
staff, including the Vice-Chancellor. The Committee also 
considers severance matters. The Committee reports to 
the Court on its approach to senior staff remuneration. At 
its meeting in October 2018, the Committee considered the 
CUC’s Higher Education Senior Staff Remuneration Code 
(2018). The Committee believes that UAL’s remuneration 
practices and processes achieve the elements of fair 
and appropriate remuneration set out in the Code, and is 
reviewing its practices to ensure that they adequately  
reflect the supporting principles outlined in the Code.
Further information on senior staff remuneration is set  
out in the note 7 of the accounts. 

Estates Committee
The Estates Committee is responsible for advising the 
Court and the Vice-Chancellor on all matters relating to the 
University’s property portfolio. The Committee meets three 
times a year at minimum.

Audit Committee
The Audit Committee has four scheduled meetings a 
year, with the University’s external and internal auditors in 
attendance. The Committee monitors risk management 
arrangements and internal control. It considers detailed 
reports together with recommendations for the 
improvement of the University’s systems and control 
environment along with management’s responses and 
implementation plans. It also receives and considers reports 
from the OfS, and monitors adherence to the regulatory 
requirements. Whilst senior executives attend meetings of 
the Audit Committee as necessary, they are not members 
of the Committee and the Committee meets with the 
internal and external auditors on their own for independent 
discussions. The Committee reviews its own effectiveness 
via its annual report to Court and via the self-assessments  
it carries out from time to time.

Conferments Committee
The Conferments Committee is responsible for considering 
honorary awards by the University and for partner colleges 
when requested to do so. It meets one to two times a year.

Committee of Independent Governors
This Committee is the appointing body for independent 
governors in certain circumstances as set out in the 
Instrument and Articles of Government.

Going Concern 
After making appropriate enquiries, the Governing Body 
considers that the University has adequate resources to 
continue in operation/existence for the foreseeable future. 
For this reason they continue to adopt the going concern 
basis in preparing the financial statements.

Corporate governance statement
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Statement of the Court of Governors’
responsibilities

The Court of Governors is responsible for preparing the 
Annual Report and the financial statements in accordance 
with the requirements of the Office for Students’ Terms 
and conditions of funding for higher education institutions 
and Research England’s Terms and conditions of Research 
England grant and applicable law and regulations.  

It is required to prepare University financial statements in 
accordance with UK accounting standards and applicable 
law (UK Generally Accepted Accounting Practice), including 
FRS 102 The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in 
the UK and Republic of Ireland. The terms and conditions 
of funding further require the financial statements to be 
prepared in accordance with the 2015 Statement of 
Recommended Practice – Accounting for Further and 
Higher Education, in accordance with the requirements of 
the Accounts Direction issued by the Office for Students.  
The Court of Governors is required to prepare financial 
statement as at the accounting date which give a true and 
fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and University 
and of their income and expenditure, gains and losses and 
changes in reserves and of the Group cash flows for the 
period then ended. 

In preparing the financial statements, the Court of 
Governors is required to:  

–  select suitable accounting policies and then apply  
them consistently;  

–   make judgements and estimates that are reasonable  
and prudent;  

–   state whether applicable UK accounting standards 
have been followed, subject to any material departures 
disclosed and explained in the financial statements;  

–   assess whether the Group and the University have 
adequate resources to continue in operation for 
the foresseable future and, therefore, whether it is 
appropriate to prepare the financial statements on a 
going concern basis.

The Court of Governors is responsible for keeping proper 
accounts and proper records in relation to the accounts. 
They are responsible for such internal control as they 
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error, and have general 
responsibility for taking such steps as are reasonably open 
to them to safeguard the assets of the group and to prevent 
and detect fraud and other irregularities.  

The Court of Governors is also responsible for ensuring 
that:

–   funds from whatever source administered by the Group 
or the University for specific purposes have been properly 
applied to those purposes and managed in accordance 
with relevant legislation; 

–   funds provided by the Office for Students and Research 
England have been applied in accordance with the terms 
and conditions attached to them;

–   funds provided by HEFCE have been applied in 
accordance with the Memorandum of Assurance and 
Accountability and any other terms and conditions 
attached to them

–   ensuring that there are appropriate financial and 
management controls in place to safeguard public funds 
and funds from other sources; and

–   securing the economical, efficient and effective 
management of the university’s resources and 
expenditure. 

The Court of Governors is responsible for the maintenance 
and integrity of the corporate and financial information 
included on the University’s website.  Legislation in the UK 
governing the preparation and dissemination of financial 
statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.
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Other information  
The Court of Governors is responsible for the other 
information, which comprises the Strategic Review and 
the Report of the Governors and Corporate Governance 
Statement.  Our opinion on the financial statements does 
not cover the other information and, accordingly, we do 
not express an audit opinion or any form of assurance 
conclusion thereon.  

Our responsibility is to read the other information and, 
in doing so, consider whether, based on our financial 
statements audit work, the information therein is materially 
misstated or inconsistent with the financial statements 
or our audit knowledge.  Based solely on that work, we 
have not identified material misstatements in the other 
information.  

Court of Governors’ responsibilities  
As explained more fully in their statement set out on 
page 29, the Court of Governors is responsible for: the 
preparation of the financial statements and for being 
satisfied that they give a true and fair view; such internal 
control as it determines is necessary to enable the 
preparation of financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; 
assessing the group and parent University’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, 
matters related to going concern; and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless it either intends to 
liquidate the group or the parent University or to cease 
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 
 
Auditor’s responsibilities  
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and 
to issue our opinion in an auditor’s report.  Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but does not 
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 

Independent auditor’s report
to the Court of Governors of 
University of the Arts London

We have audited the financial statements of University 
of the Arts London (“the University”) for the year ended 
31 July 2018 which comprise the group and University 
financial statements and related notes, including the 
accounting policies in note 1.  

In our opinion the financial statements:  

–  give a true and fair view of the state of the Group’s and 
the University’s affairs as at 31 July 2018, and of the 
Group’s and the University’s income and expenditure, 
gains and losses and changes in reserves, and of the 
Group’s cash flows, for the year then ended; 

–  have been properly prepared in accordance with UK 
accounting standards, including FRS 102 The Financial 
Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of 
Ireland, and with the 2015 Statement of Recommended 
Practice – Accounting for Further and Higher Education; 
and

–  meet the requirements of the Accounts Direction dated 
19 June 2018 issued by the Office for Students.

Basis for opinion  
We conducted our audit in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing (UK) (“ISAs (UK)”) and applicable 
law.  Our responsibilities are described below.  We 
have fulfilled our ethical responsibilities under, and are 
independent of the group in accordance with, UK ethical 
requirements including the FRC Ethical Standard.  We 
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is a 
sufficient and appropriate basis for our opinion.  

Going concern  
We are required to report to you if we have concluded 
that the use of the going concern basis of accounting is 
inappropriate or there is an undisclosed material uncertainty 
that may cast significant doubt over the use of that basis 
for a period of at least twelve months from the date of 
approval of the financial statements.  We have nothing to 
report in these respects.  



31www.arts.ac.uk

ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when 
it exists.  Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and 
are considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they 
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial 
statements.  

A fuller description of our responsibilities is provided on the 
FRC’s website at www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements 
We are required to report on the following matters under 
the Office for Students and Research England Audit Codes 
of Practice issued under the Further and Higher Education 
Act 1992.

In our opinion, in all material respects:

–  funds from whatever source administered by the Group 
or the University for specific purposes have been properly 
applied to those purposes and managed in accordance 
with relevant legislation; 

–  income has been applied in accordance with the 
University’s Statutes;

–  funds provided by the Office for Students and Research 
England have been applied in accordance with these 
conditions and the terms and conditions attached to 
them; and

–  funds provided by HEFCE have been applied in 
accordance with the Memorandum of Assurance and 
Accountability and any other terms and conditions 
attached to them.

The purpose of our audit work and to whom we owe 
our responsibilities 
This report is made solely to the Court of Governors, in 
accordance with the Articles of the institution. Our audit 
work has been undertaken so that we might state to the 
Court of Governors those matters we are required to state 
to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. 
To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or 
assume responsibility to anyone other than the University 
and the Court of Governors for our audit work, for this 
report, or for the opinions we have formed.  

Fleur Nieboer 
For and on behalf of KPMG LLP, Statutory Auditor
Chartered Accountants 
15 Canada Square, London, E14 5GL

 November 2018
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  2018 2018 2017 2017
  Consolidated University Consolidated University
  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000
 Notes

Income     
Tuition fees and education contracts 1 236,516 225,833 214,624 203,678
Funding body grants 2 25,320 25,320 28,400 28,400
Research grants and contracts 3 920 920 1,439 1,439
Other income 4 37,744 42,555 34,227 36,772
Investment income 5 1,961 1,961 1,661 1,660
Donations and endowments 6 6,422 6,422 1,047 1,047

Total income  308,883 303,011 281,398 272,996

     
Expenditure
Staff costs  7 171,058 164,051 158,874 151,821
Other operating expenses 8 106,289 104,105 96,166 96,002
Depreciation  11 3,545 3,545 2,680 2,680
Interest and other finance costs 9 5,710 5,660 6,284 6,230

Total expenditure  286,602 277,361 264,004 256,733

     
Surplus before other gains losses  22,281 25,650 17,394 16,263
Gain on investments 20 159 159 42 42

Surplus for the year  22,440 25,809 17,436 16,305
Unrealised gains on revaluation of heritage assets 12 – – 2,000 2,000
Actuarial gain in respect of pension schemes 27  35,126 33,562  14,590 14,112

Total comprehensive income for the year  57,566 59,371 34,026 32,417

Represented by:      
Endowment comprehensive income for the year  223 223 58 58
Restricted comprehensive income for the year  62 62 (303) (303)
Unrestricted comprehensive income for the year  57,586 59,391 32,576 30,967
Revaluation reserve comprehensive income for the year  (305) (305) 1,695 1,695

  57,566 59,371 34,026 32,417

All items of income and expenditure relate to continuing activities.

Consolidated and University Statement of  
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Year Ended 31 July 2018
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Consolidated and University 
Statement of Changes in Reserves 
Year Ended 31 July 2018

Consolidated  Income and expenditure account  Revaluation reserve Total
 Endowment Restricted  Unrestricted 
 £’000 £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000 
 
Balance at 1 August 2016 4,444 1,986 225,217 19,893 251,540

Surplus from the income and expenditure statement 87 873 16,476 – 17,436
Other comprehensive income –    –  14,590 2,000   16,590
Transfers between revaluation and income and expenditure reserve –      –  305 (305) – 
Release of restricted funds spent in year (29) (1,176) 1,205 –  –
  
Total comprehensive income for the year 58 (303) 32,576 1,695 34,026

Balance at 1 August 2017 4,502 1,683 257,793 21,588 285,566
 
Surplus from the income and expenditure statement 278 1,054 21,108 –  22,440
Other comprehensive income – –  35,126 – 35,126
Transfers between revaluation and income and expenditure reserve – –  305 (305) – 
Release of restricted funds spent in year (55) (992) 1,047 – – 
 
Total comprehensive income for the year 223 62 57,586 (305) 57,566

Balance at 31 July 2018 4,725 1,745 315,379 21,283 343,132

University  Income and expenditure account  Revaluation reserve Total
 Endowment Restricted  Unrestricted 
 £’000 £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000

Balance at 1 August 2016 4,444 1,986 225,384 19,893 251,707
 
Surplus from the income and expenditure statement 87 873 15,345 –  16,305
Other comprehensive income – – 14,112 2,000 16,112
Transfers between revaluation and income and expenditure reserve –  –  305 (305) – 
Release of restricted funds spent in year (29) (1,176) 1,205 –  – 
     
Total comprehensive income for the year 58 (303) 30,967 1,695 32,417
 
Balance at 1 August 2017 4,502 1,683 256,351 21,588 284,124
 
Surplus from the income and expenditure statement 278 1,054 24,477 –  25,809
Other comprehensive income – –  33,562 – 33,562
Transfers between revaluation and income and expenditure reserve – –  305 (305) – 
Release of restricted funds spent in year (55) (992) 1,047 –  – 
      
Total comprehensive income for the year 223 62 59,391 (305) 59,371
 
Balance at 31 July 2018 4,725 1,745 315,742 21,283 343,495
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The financial statements were approved by the Court of Governors on 19 November 2018 and signed on its behalf by:

 
 

   
Nigel Carrington David Isaac CBE Harry Gaskell
Vice-Chancellor Chair of the Court of Governors Chair of the  
  Finance Committee

  2018 2018 2017 2017
  Consolidated University Consolidated University
 Notes £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000
 
Non-current assets
Negative goodwill 10 (4,256) (4,256) (4,345) (4,345)
Fixed assets 11 412,863 413,193 403,622 403,952
Heritage assets 11/12 22,400 22,400 22,400 22,400
Investments 13 1 1 – –

  431,008 431,338 421,677 422,007

Current assets
Stock 14 480 480 424 389
Trade and other receivables 15 13,937 13,583 12,353 12,296
Investments 16 113,253 113,253 125,633 125,633
Cash and cash equivalents 22 106,623 105,794 67,397 66,521

  234,293 233,110 205,807 204,839

Less: Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 17 (65,160) (65,417) (63,772) (66,578)
 
Net current assets  169,133 167,693 142,035 138,261

 
Total assets less current liabilities  600,141 599,031 563,712 560,268

 
Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year 18 (105,847) (105,847) (110,558) (110,558)
 
Provisions
Pension provisions 19 (147,017) (145,544) (163,536) (161,534)
Other provisions 19 (4,145) (4,145) (4,052) (4,052)

Total net assets   343,132 343,495 285,566 284,124

 
Restricted reserves 
Income and expenditure reserve – endowment reserve 20 4,725 4,725 4,502 4,502
Income and expenditure reserve – restricted reserve 21 1,745 1,745 1,683 1,683

Unrestricted reserves
Income and expenditure reserve – unrestricted  315,379 315,742 257,793 256,351
Revaluation reserve  21,283 21,283 21,588 21,588

Total reserves  343,132 343,495 285,566 284,124

Consolidated and University 
Balance Sheet at 31 July 2018
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  2018 2017
 Notes £000 £000

Cash flow from operating activities
Surplus for the year  22,440 17,436 

Adjustment for non-cash items
Depreciation 11  3,545 2,680 
Benefit on acquisitions released to income 10  (89) (89)
Movement on investments 21  (159) (42) 
(Increase)/Decrease in stock 14  (56) 10
(Increase) in debtors 15  (1,584) (4,207)
Increase in creditors 17/18  1,350 2,404
Pension charges less contributions payable 27 18,606 9,361
Increase in other provisions 19  93 53

Adjustment for investing or financing activities
Investment income 5  (1,961) (1,661)
Interest payable 9 1,289 1,898  
Capital grant income  (1,580)  (1,183)

Net cash inflow from operating activities  41,894  26,660 

Cash flows from investing activities
Capital grants receipts  1,580 1,183
Withdrawal of deposits  12,539  (1,170)
Investment income  1,961  1,661
Payments made to acquire fixed assets  (12,786) (16,566)

 
  3,294 (14,892)
    
Cash flows from financing activities
Interest paid  (1,289)  (1,898)
Repayment of amounts borrowed  (4,673) (2,606) 

 
  (5,962)  (4,504)
    
    
Increase in cash and cash equivalents in the year  39,226 7,264
    
    
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 22 67,397  60,133
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 22 106,623 67,397 

The accompanying notes form part of the financial statements.

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement 
for the year ended 31 July 2018
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Statement of principal accounting policies

Basis of preparation
These financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with the Statement of Recommended Practice 
(SORP): Accounting for Further and Higher Education 2016 
and in accordance with Financial Reporting Standards (FRS 
102). The University is a public benefit entity and therefore 
has applied the relevant public benefit requirement of FRS 
102. The financial statements are prepared in accordance 
with the historical cost convention.

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the University 
and all its subsidiaries for the financial year to 31 July 2018. 
The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during 
the period are included in the consolidated statement of 
income and expenditure from the date of acquisition or 
up to the date of disposal. Intra-group transactions are 
eliminated on consolidation.

The consolidated financial statements do not include the 
income and expenditure of the Students’ Union as the 
University does not exert control or dominant influence  
over policy decisions. 

Income recognition
Fee income is stated gross of any expenditure which is not 
a discount and credited to the Consolidated Statement of 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure over the period 
in which students are studying. Where the amount of the 
tuition fee is reduced, by a discount for prompt payment, 
income receivable is shown net of the discount. Bursaries 
and scholarships are accounted for gross as expenditure 
and not deducted from income. 

Income from the sale of goods or services is credited to  
the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income  
and Expenditure when the goods or services are supplied 
to the external customers or the terms of the contract  
have been satisfied.

Funds the University receives and disburses as paying 
agent on behalf of a funding body are excluded from 
the income and expenditure of the University where the 
University is exposed to minimal risk or enjoys minimal 
economic benefit related to the transaction.

Investment income is credited to the statement of  
income and expenditure on a receivable basis.

Grant funding
Government revenue grants including funding council block 
grant and research grants are recognised in income over 
the periods in which the University recognises the related 
costs for which the grant is intended to compensate. Where 
part of a government grant is not expended it is recognised 
as deferred income within creditors.

Grants (including research grants) from non-government 
sources are recognised in income when the University is 
entitled to the income and performance related conditions 
have been met. Income received in advance of performance 
related conditions being met is recognised as deferred 
income within creditors on the balance sheet and released 
to income as the conditions are met.

Donations and endowments
Non exchange transactions without performance related 
conditions are donations and endowments. Donations and 
endowments are recognised in income when the University 
is entitled to the funds. Where there are donor imposed 
restrictions, income is retained within the restricted reserve 
until such time that it is utilised in line with such restrictions 
at which point the income is released to general reserves 
through a reserve transfer. Donations with no restrictions 
are recognised in income when the University is entitled  
to the funds.

Investment income and appreciation of endowments is 
recorded in income in the year in which it arises and as 
either restricted or unrestricted income according to  
the terms other restriction applied to the individual  
endowment fund.

There are four main types of donations and  
endowments identified within reserves:
1.  Restricted donations - the donor has specified that  

the donation must be used for a particular objective
2.  Unrestricted permanent endowments - the donor has 

specified that the fund is to be permanently invested  
to generate an income stream for the general benefit  
of the University.

3.  Restricted expendable endowments - the donor  
has specified a particular objective other than the 
purchase or construction of tangible fixed assets,  
and the University has the power to use the capital

4.  Restricted permanent endowments - the donor has 
specified that the fund is to be permanently invested  
to generate an income stream to be applied to a 
particular objective.
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Capital grants
Government capital grants are recognised in income over 
the expected useful life of the asset. Other capital grants 
are recognised in income when the University is entitled to 
the funds subject to any performance related conditions.

Accounting for retirement benefits 
The three principal pension schemes for the University’s 
staff are the Universities Superannuation Scheme (USS), 
the Teachers’ Pension Scheme (TPS) and the Local 
Government Pension Scheme (LGPS). The schemes are 
defined benefit schemes which are externally funded and 
contracted out of the State Second Pension (S2P). Each 
fund is valued every three to five years by professionally 
qualified independent actuaries.

Defined contribution plan
A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit 
plan under which the University pays fixed contributions 
into a separate entity and will have no legal or constructive 
obligation to pay further amounts. Obligations for 
contributions to defined contribution pension plans are 
recognised as an expense in the income statement in the 
periods during which services are rendered by employees. 
The TPS and USS are treated as defined contribution plans, 
since the University is unable to identify its share of the 
underlying assets and liabilities of these schemes.

Defined benefit plan
Defined benefit plans are post-employment benefit plans 
other than defined contribution plans. Under defined 
benefit plans, the University has an obligation to provide 
agreed benefits to current and former employees who are 
members of the scheme, and actuarial risk (that benefits 
will cost more or less than expected) and investment risk 
(that returns on assets set aside to fund the benefits will 
differ from expectations) are borne, in substance, by the 
University. Accordingly, the Group recognises a liability 
for its obligations under defined benefit plans net of plan 
assets. This net defined benefit liability is measured as the 
estimated amount of benefit that employees have earned 
in return for their service in the current and prior periods, 
discounted to determine its present value, less the fair value 
(at bid price) of plan assets. The calculation is performed by 
a qualified actuary using the projected unit credit method. 

Employment benefits
Short term employment benefits such as salaries and 
compensated absences are recognised as an expense 
in the year in which the employees render service to the 
University. Any unused benefits are accrued and measured 
as the additional amount the University expects to pay as  
a result of the unused entitlement.

Operating leases
Costs in respect of operating leases are charged on  
a straight line basis over the lease term. 
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The University holds a number of nomination agreements 
with student accommodation service providers. The 
University has assessed the agreements and is treating 
them as operating leases. The agreements guarantee 
that University students will occupy a minimum proportion 
of rooms within a property over a year. The operation of 
each agreement varies. Depending on the occupancy 
level attained against the guaranteed occupancy level, the 
University will either receive surplus income from the service 
provider or make a payment to cover under-occupancy.

Where information is available on the rent collected from 
students by the service provider, and the service provider is 
considered to be acting as an agent for the University, the 
net payment or receipt is grossed-up to show both income 
and expenditure separately in the financial statements. 
Where this information is not readily obtainable by the 
University, the net payment is shown against expenditure 
and a receipt is shown as income.

Foreign currency
Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are 
recorded at the rate of exchange ruling at the dates of the 
transactions.  Monetary assets and liabilities denominated 
in foreign currencies are translated into sterling either at 
year-end rates or, where there are related forward foreign 
exchange contracts, at contract rates. The resulting 
exchange differences are dealt with in the determination  
of income and expenditure for the financial year.

Fixed assets
Fixed assets are stated at cost less accumulated 
depreciation. 

Where parts of a fixed asset have different useful lives,  
they are accounted for as separate items of fixed assets.

Land and buildings
The cost of land and buildings inherited on incorporation 
cannot readily be ascertained and is therefore included 
on the basis of valuations carried out in November 1989 
using the assumption that the buildings will continue in 
educational use. Other land and buildings are included in 
the balance sheet at cost.
Freehold land is not depreciated. Freehold buildings 
are depreciated over their expected useful life to the 
University of up to 50 years. Where property held is listed, 
it is deemed to have an infinite useful life and thus not 
depreciated. Leasehold land and buildings are amortised 
over 50 years or, if shorter, the period of the lease. 
Improvements to freehold buildings are depreciated  
over 10 to 20 years.

Where land and buildings are acquired with the aid of 
specific grants they are capitalised and depreciated  
as above. 

Buildings under construction are accounted for at cost, 
based upon the value of architects’ certificates and 
other direct costs incurred during the year. They are not 
depreciated until they are brought into use. Finance costs 
which are directly attributable to the construction of land 
and buildings are not capitalised as part of the cost of  
those assets.

Equipment
Equipment costing less than £40,000 per individual item 
is written off to the income and expenditure account in the 
year of acquisition. All other equipment is capitalised at 
cost. Capitalised equipment is depreciated over its useful 
economic life as follows:
Computer equipment 33 1/3% per annum 
Fixtures, fittings and  20% per annum 
other equipment  

Where equipment is acquired with the aid of specific  
grants it is capitalised and depreciated in accordance  
with the above policy.

Heritage assets
Assets that are of historical, scientific, artistic or 
technological value and are held and maintained by the 
University primarily for their contribution to knowledge 
and culture are recognised in the balance sheet at 
valuation. The value of the assets is periodically reviewed 
to ensure they are adequately stated. Gains and losses on 
revaluation are recognised in the statement of recognised 
gains and losses. No depreciation is charged on heritage 
assets as they are expected to have a long economic 
life. Maintenance costs are charged to the income and 
expenditure account when incurred.

Intangible assets and goodwill
Negative goodwill arising in respect of the activities of 
colleges transferred to the University is included within  
fixed assets. Negative goodwill is amortised over the 
service lives of long life assets to which the goodwill is 
attributed. Where the negative goodwill relates to land  
it is amortised over 5 years.

Investments
Non current asset investments are stated at cost less any 
impairment.

Stock
Stocks are stated at the lower of their cost and net 
realisable value. Where necessary, provision is made for 
obsolete, slow moving and defective stocks.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash includes cash in hand, deposits repayable on demand 
and overdrafts. Deposits are repayable on demand if they 
are in practice available within 24 hours without penalty.

Statement of principal accounting policies
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Cash equivalents are short term, highly liquid investments 
that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with 
insignificant risk of change in value.

Provisions
Provisions are recognised in the financial statements when:
(a)  the University has a present obligation (legal or 

constructive) as a result of a past event;
(b)  it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits  

will be required to settle the obligation; and
(c)  a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of  

the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is determined by 
discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate 
that reflects risks specific to the liability.

Judgements and estimates
Fixed assets
Land and buildings are included in the balance sheet  
at cost or valuation it inherited on incorporation in 1989.
 
Buildings have been apportioned between two 
components: property and fixtures, fittings and equipment. 
The apportionment of the costs between these components 
was based on the elemental cost breakdowns of the 
projects to establish the appropriate proportion of costs 
that should be attributed to the identified components.
 
Assumptions have also been made regarding the remaining 
useful economic lives of the buildings. Consideration 
has been given to both the physical and functional 
obsolescence of the building and its components.
 
Annual leave accrual
The University has provided for the cost of unused annual 
leave of its employees at the end of the financial year. For 
non-academic staff the accrual was based on the actual 
leave carried forward at 31 July. For academic staff a 
consistent level of leave similar to other staff is assumed to 
be carried forward by each member of staff.
 
Financial instruments
The University has entered into a number of interest rate 
caps. These caps have been valued at the year-end using 
valuations as provided by our bank.

Heritage assets
Heritage assets are valued based on assumptions made 
by external valuers. Asset valuations are determined by the 
valuer’s opinion on the physical condition of items and their 
judgement of market conditions.

Retirement benefit obligations
In determining the valuation of defined benefit schemes’ 
assets and liabilities, a number of key estimates and 
assumptions have been made in relation to: 
–  inflation rate; 
–  life expectancy; 
–  discount rate; and 
–  salary and pension growth rates.
The University is exposed to risks through its defined 
benefit schemes if actual experience differs to the estimates 
used and through volatility in the plan assets. Details of the 
estimates used, and associated sensitivities, are included in 
note 27.

Taxation
The University is an exempt charity within the meaning of 
Part 3 of the Charities Act 2011. It is therefore a charity 
within the meaning of Para 1 of schedule 6 to the Finance 
Act 2010 and accordingly, the University is exempt from 
taxation in respect of income or capital gains received 
within categories covered by section 478–488 of the 
Corporation Tax Act 2010 (CTA 2010) or section 256 of the 
Taxation of Chargeable Gains Act 1992, to the extent that 
such income or gains are applied to exclusively charitable 
purposes.

The University is partially exempt in respect of Value 
Added Tax, so that it can only recover a minor element of 
VAT charged on its inputs. Irrecoverable VAT on inputs is 
included in the costs of such inputs and added to the cost 
of tangible fixed assets as appropriate.

The University’s subsidiaries are liable to Corporation Tax  
in the same way as any other commercial organisation.

Reserves
Reserves are classified as restricted or unrestricted. 
Restricted endowment reserves include balances which, 
through endowment to the University, are held as a 
permanently restricted fund which the University must  
hold in perpetuity.

Other restricted reserves include balances where the  
donor has designated a specific purpose and therefore  
the University is restricted in the use of these funds.

Non-basic financial instruments 
As part of managing its interest cost on variable-rate  
loans, the Group has entered into a number of fixed-rate 
interest rate caps. These caps are measured at fair value  
and, by default, the gain (or loss) on remeasurement is  
recognised as financing income (or costs).
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Notes to the accounts

1. Tuition fees and education contracts  2018 2018 2017  2017
  Consolidated University Consolidated University
  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000

HE home and EU students  95,383  95,383  93,580  93,580 
HE international students  103,041  103,041  86,066  86,066 
FE home and EU students  730  730  871  871 
FE international students  13,581 13,581  11,989  11,989 
Non-credit bearing courses  17,805 7,122  17,357  6,411 
Exam and registration fees  5,976 5,976  4,761  4,761 

  236,516 225,833  214,624 203,678 

2. Funding body grants

Recurrent grant
Higher Education Funding Council for England (HEFCE)    
and Office for Students (OfS)   15,771 15,771  19,142  19,142 
Skills Funding Agency  661 661  1  1 
Education Funding Agency  3,734 3,734  4,891  4,891 

Specific grants
HEFCE and OfS capital grants – buildings  990 990  1,396  1,396 
HEFCE and OfS capital grants – equipment  590 590  386  386
HEFCE and OfS special initiatives  3,574 3,574  2,585  2,585
      
  25,320 25,320 28,400  28,400 
     

3. Research grants and contracts

Research councils  286 286 584  584 
Research charities  190 190 152  152 
Government (UK and overseas)  117 117 399  399 
Industry and commerce  66  66 18  18  
Other   261  261 286  286 

  920 920 1,439  1,439 
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4. Other income  2018 2018 2017 2017
  Consolidated University Consolidated University
 Notes £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000
      
Residences and catering   28,332 28,332 25,224  25,224
Retail operations  1,885 1,885 1,703  1,703
Other revenue grants  1,558 1,558 1,550  1,550
Other income  5,880 10,691 5,661  8,206
Release of benefit arising from acquisitions 10  89 89 89  89 

  37,744 42,555 34,227  36,772 

5. Investment income

Investment income on endowments 20 120 120 45  45 
Other investment income  1,841 1,841 1,616 1,615

 
  1,961 1,961 1,661  1,660
 
 
6. Donations and endowments

Donations with restrictions 21  1,054 1,054  873 873
Unrestricted donations  5,368 5,368  174 174 
      
  6,422 6,422  1,047 1,047
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7. Staff costs  2018 2018 2017 2017
  Consolidated University Consolidated University
  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000

Salaries  128,457 123,384 122,722 117,184
Social security costs  12,034 11,587 11,466 10,984
Movement on USS provision  (98) (98) (152) (152)
Other pension costs   30,665 29,178 24,838 23,805

Total   171,058 164,051 158,874 151,821

Emoluments of the Vice-Chancellor:   2018   2017 
   £  £
Salary   269,875  265,364 
Benefits in kind   298  121
 
   270,173  265,485
 

The University made no pension contributions on behalf of the Vice-Chancellor (2017: nil).

The Chair and Deputy Chair of the Court of Governors meet regularly with the Vice-Chancellor and a formal appraisal takes 
place annually.  Following this, Remuneration Committee considers the Vice-Chancellor’s performance and remuneration.  
The University has had a successful year in terms of student recruitment despite increased competition and is in a strong 
financial position which supports its plans to redevelop its estate.  The Committee highlighted the excellent work carried out 
by the Vice-Chancellor, particularly given the changes taking place in the sector and the challenges faced by the University 
in delivering its ambitious capital programmes and preparing for Brexit.  
 
Benchmark data shows that the Vice-Chancellor’s salary is significantly below the national average and in the bottom 
quartile of London peer institutions despite the University’s being in the top quartile by size of UK universities. He does not 
participate in the pension scheme and has not received any bonuses. His pay increases have consistently been below the 
staff average at UAL since his appointment in 2008. Given that UAL is Europe’s largest specialist art and design university 
and ranked sixth in the world for art and design (2018 QS World University Rankings), the Vice-Chancellor’s remuneration 
package is considered to be appropriate. 
 

       
Ratios of Vice-Chancellor’s remuneration to staff pay medians:    UAL and  
    Consolidated
      
Basic pay     7.24 : 1
 
Total remuneration     6.22 : 1

Staff that are not on a fixed salary generally hourly paid casual staff, are excluded from this calculation as a comparable 
salary cannot be determined in respect of them. 

We have also excluded agency staff and contractors as they are not employees of UAL and we do not hold complete 
records to enable us to include them in the calculations.
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Remuneration of other higher paid staff, excluding employer’s pension contributions and bonuses are as follows:

    Number of employees 
   2018  2017
   No.  No.
    
£100,000 to £104,999   2  3
£105,000 to £109,999   3  1
£110,000 to £114,999   2  2
£120,000 to £124,999   –  1 
£125,000 to £129,999   –  2
£130,000 to £134,999   2  1
£135,000 to £139,999   3  – 
£145,000 to £149,999   1  1 
£150,000 to £154,999   –  1 
£160,000 to £164,999   –  1 
£165,000 to £169,999   2  –

   15  13

Average staff numbers by major category:    Number of employees 
   2018  2017
   No.  No.
 
Teaching departments   1,404  1,385
Teaching support services   629  589
Student services   74  71
Central services   268  267
Premises   127  128
Residences and catering   49  43
Research contracts   12  19
Other   54  57

   2,617  2,559

Key management personnel
The University’s Operating Board are the key management personnel who have authority and responsibility for planning, 
directing and controlling the activities of the University. Amounts paid to key management personnell are as follows:

    2018   2017 
   £’000  £’000

Staffing Costs (excluding Vice-Chancellor)   3,403  3,280
Number of Staff   28  28
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7. Staff costs (continued)
 
Compensation for loss of office:

Year to 31st July 2018 

 Number Amount Number Amount  
 of staff (£) of staff (£) (£)

Loss of office 19 503,241 1 68,488 571,729
 
 
 
Year to 31st July 2017 
 
 
 Number Amount Number Amount  
 of staff (£) of staff (£) (£)

Loss of office 19 571,607 – – 571,607
University wide Voluntary Severance Scheme 90 2,028,868 – – 2,028,868

Total 109 2,600,475 – – 2,600,475
 
 
Court Members     
The University’s Court of Governors are the trustees for charitable law purposes. Due to the nature of the University’s 
operations and the compositions of the Court, being drawn from local public and private sector organisations, it is inevitable 
that transactions will take place with organisations in which a member of the Court may have an interest. All transactions 
involving organisations in which a member of Court may have an interest, including those identified below, are conducted  
at arms length and in accordance with the University’s Financial Regulations and usual procurement procedures.  

The University has 5 Staff Governors who are paid as employees of the University (2017: five Staff Governors). However, 
they do not receive additional remuneration for acting in the capacity of Governor.

No Governors have received any remuneration/waived payments from the group during the year (2017 – none).  

The total expenses paid to Governors was £1,009 to 3 governors (2017: £984 to 4 governors). This represents travel and 
subsistence incurred in attending Court of Governors meetings in their official capacity.

University

University

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries

Consolidated  
Total

Consolidated  
Total

Notes to the accounts
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8. Analysis of total expenditure by activity  2018 2018 2017 2017
  Consolidated University Consolidated University
 Notes £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000

Academic departments  19,856 17,783 19,277 19,178
Academic services  15,696 15,629 13,998 13,998
Student services  1,806 1,806 1,508 1,508
Educational Expenditure  6,176 6,176 6,892 6,893
Central Services  5,090 5,090 4,694 4,694
Premises  29,835 29,835 23,960 23,960
Residences and Catering  25,584 25,584 23,408 23,408
Research contracts  433 433 630 630
Other services rendered  1,813 1,769 1,799 1,733
 
  106,289 104,105 96,166 96,002

Other operating expenses include:
External auditors remuneration in respect of audit services  57  88
External auditors remuneration in respect of non-audit services 57  231
Operating lease rentals – land and buildings  23,857  24,295

Auditors renumeration is stated exclusive of VAT

9. Interest and other finance costs     
 
Loan interest  1,289 1,289 1,898 1,898
Exchange differences  23 21  41 36
Decrease in fair value of derivatives  102 102 128 128
Interest on net defined benefit liability 27 4,296 4,248 4,217 4,168
 
  5,710 5,660 6,284 6,230

 
10. Negative goodwill 
      
     £’000 

Fair Value    
At 31 July 2017 and at 31 July 2018   14,971
   
Released to income and expenditure account 
At 1 August 2017   (10,626)
Release for year   (89) 
 
At 31 July 2018   (10,715)

Net Book Value     
At 31 July 2018   4,256
    
At 31 July 2017   4,345
 
Negative goodwill has arisen in respect of the assets and activities of the colleges transfered to the University. 
 
The amortisation period is commensurate with the recovery of the non-monetary assets acquired.  
Where the negative goodwill relates to land, it is amortised over 5 years.
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 11. Fixed assets

Consolidated
Cost and valuation
At 1 August 2017 338,687 28,450 12,236 14,582 54,362 22,400 470,717
Additions   –   –   –   –  12,786  –  12,786 
Transfers 66,442 – – 706 (67,148) – –

At 31 July 2018 405,129 28,450 12,236 15,288 – 22,400 483,503
        
       
Depreciation
At 1 August 2017 22,212 502 7,399 14,582 –  – 44,695
Charge for the year 3,183 20 201 141 –  –  3,545

At 31 July 2018 25,395 522 7,600 14,723 – – 48,240
 
Net book value
At 31 July 2018 379,734 27,928 4,636 565 – 22,400 435,263

At 31 July 2017 316,475 27,948 4,837 – 54,362 22,400 426,022

University
Cost and valuation
At 1 August 2017 339,016 28,450 12,236 14,252 54,362 22,400 470,716
Additions  –  –   –   –  12,786 – 12,786 
Transfers 66,442 – – 706 (67,148) – –

At 31 July 2018 405,458 28,450 12,236 14,958 – 22,400 483,502
        
       
Depreciation
At 1 August 2017 22,212 502 7,398 14,252 – – 44,364
Charge for the year 3,183 20 201 141 – – 3,545

At 31 July 2018 25,395 522 7,599 14,393 – – 47,909

Net book value
At 31 July 2018 380,063 27,928 4,637 565 – 22,400 435,593
       
At 31 July 2017 316,804 27,948 4,838 – 54,362  22,400 426,352

At 31 July 2018, freehold land and buildings included £46.7m (2017 – £39.9m) in respect of freehold land that is not depreciated.
 
The Group and University does not have any capital commitments at the 31 July 2018 (2017:nil).

The transfers from assets in the course of constructions represents the Camberwell development which was brought into use 
during the year.

Freehold 
Land and 
Property

£’000

Long  
Leasehold 

Property
£’000

Short  
Leasehold 

Property
£’000

Fixtures, 
Fittings and 
Equipment

£’000

Assets in the 
Course of  

Construction
£’000

Heritage 
assets
£’000

Total
£’000

Notes to the accounts
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12. Heritage assets

Heritage assets are measured at valuation as explained below. There have been no additions or disposals since 2010:

The University owns a sculpture by Henry Moore (1898 – 1986): Two-Piece Reclining Figure No.1, (1959). The bronze was
donated to Chelsea School of Art in 1963 after a purpose-built school was opened on Manresa Road. The discussions
surrounding the donation of the sculpture from Henry Moore are detailed in minutes of the Governors’ meetings in
1963  – 1964. The sculpture represents an important development in Moore’s work, being the first time he separated  
the reclining figure into two pieces. It is currently located at the University’s Millbank site and is accessible to the public.  
The sculpture was formally revalued for insurance purposes in July 2017. Due to the length of time elapsed since 
acquisition, it has been deemed that the value in 2001 (£2 million), the earliest value readily attainable, should be taken as 
the book value at acquisition. There was an upward revaluation of £2 million in 2016  – 17. The valuation is based on the 
probable cost of replacing the item in its current condition with a comparable item in similar condition by purchase in the 
normal retail market at the valuation date. The total value at 31 July 2018 is £12 million.

In March 2007, extensive archives of the late acclaimed filmmaker Stanley Kubrick (1928 – 1999) were donated to the
University. The Kubrick Archive contains comprehensive collections of materials relating to film production comprising
scripts, treatments, drafts, extensive working and research documents, correspondence, costumes, props, models,
production schedules, photography, books and film equipment. The Archives are housed in a purpose-built Archives and
Special Collections Centre at the London College of Communication to ensure that the archives are preserved and on
display for posterity. They are accessible to students, researchers, and the general public by arrangement. The Kubrick
Archive is included in the balance sheet as a collection based on the insurance value since acquisition. The total value  
at 31 July 2018 is £10.4 million.

13. Non-current asset investments

 
University Subsidiary companies Other fixed asset investments Total
 £ £ £

At 1 August 2017 103 341 444 
Additions 100 – 100
Disposals – (5) (5)
 
At 31 July 2018 203 336 539
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14. Stock  2018 2018 2017 2017
  Consolidated University Consolidated University
  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000
     
Catering stocks  49 49 43 43 
Retail stocks  431 431  381 346 
  
  480 480  424 389 

15. Trade and other receivables  2018 2018 2017 2017
  Consolidated University Consolidated University
  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000

Amounts falling due within one year:
Trade receivables  3,920 3,797 3,594  3,476 
Other receivables  1,860 1,690  3,075  3,075 
Prepayments and accrued income  8,157 8,065 5,684  5,612 
Amounts due from subsidiary companies  – 31   – 133 

  13,937 13,583  12,353  12,296 

16. Current asset investments  2018 2018 2017 2017
  Consolidated University Consolidated University
  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000

Short term deposits  113,099 113,099  125,378  125,378 
Financial derivatives – Interest rate caps  154 154 255 255

  113,253 113,253  125,633  125,633 

Deposits are held with banks and building societies operating in the London market and licensed by the Financial Services 
Authority with more than three months maturity at the balance sheet date.  The interest rates for these deposits are fixed  
for the duration of the deposit at time of placement.

At 31 July 2018 the weighted average interest rate of these fixed rate deposits was 0.8% per annum and the remaining 
weighted average period for which the interest rate is fixed on these deposits was 169 days. The fair value of these 
deposits was not materially different from the book value.
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17. Creditors : amounts falling due within one year  2018 2018 2017 2017
  Consolidated University Consolidated University
  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000

Secured loans  4,673  4,673 4,673  4,673
Trade payables  8,571 8,474 9,442  9,285
Social security and other taxation payable  5,416 4,936 4,185  3,906
Accruals and deferred income  37,272 34,145  36,212  32,734
Other creditors  9,228 9,186  9,260  9,278
Amounts due to subsidiary companies   – 4,003   –  6,702
 
   65,160 65,417 63,772  66,578

Deferred income
Included in accruals and deferred income are the following items of income which have been deferred until specific 
performance conditions have been met:     
  2018 2018 2017 2017
  Consolidated University Consolidated University
  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000
     
Deferred capital grant  1,580 1,580 1,782  1,782
Other income  31,914 29,158  32,421  29,512 

   33,494 30,738  34,203  31,294
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18. Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year 
 
  2018 2018 2017 2017
  Consolidated University Consolidated University
  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000

Deferred income – capital grants  19,280 19,280 19,318 19,318
Unsecured loans  86,567 86,567 91,240 91,240

  105,847 105,847 110,558 110,558
 

Analysis of unsecured loans:

Due within one year or on demand (Note 17)  4,673 4,673 4,673 4,673 

Due between one and two years  4,673 4,673 4,673 4,673
Due between two and five years  14,019 14,019 14,019 14,019
Due in five years or more  67,875 67,875 72,548 72,548

Due after more than one year  86,567 86,567 91,240 91,240

Total unsecured loans  91,240 91,240 95,913 95,913
    

The University also has in place a further £80m facility to fund its future capital developments.
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19. Provisions for liabilities 

Consolidated  
At 1 August 2017   714 5,605 157,217 163,536 4,052
Movement in year   (81) (209) (16,229) (16,519) 93

At 31 July 2018   633 5,396 140,988 147,017 4,145

University
At 1 August 2017   714 5,605 155,215 161,534 4,052
Movement in year   (81) (209) (15,700) (15,990) 93

At 31 July 2018   633 5,396 139,515 145,544 4,145

Leasehold dilapidation
The leasehold dilapidation provision relates to the projected cost to return leased property to the condition at the beginning 
of the lease. 

Obligation to  
fund deficit on  

USS Pension 
(Note 27)

£’000

Pension  
enhancements 
on termination 

(Note 27)
£’000

Defined Benefit  
Obligations  

(Note 27)
£’000

Total  
Pensions  

Provisions
£’000

Leasehold
Dilapidation

£’000
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20. Endowment reserves

 Restricted net assets relating to endowments are as follows:

Balances at 1 August
Capital 2,936  479 608  4,023  3,981 
Accumulated income 402  57 20  479  463 

 3,338  536 628  4,502  4,444 

New endowments –  – –   – – 
Investment income 43  21 55 119  45 
Expenditure (2) – (53) (55) (29)
Increase in market value of investments 119  19 21   159  42 

Total endowment comprehensive income for the year 160  40  23 223  58 

At 31 July 3,498 576 651 4,725 4,502

Represented by:
Capital 3,055  498  629  4,182  4,023  
Accumulated income 443  78  22  543  479 

 3,498 576 651 4,725  4,502 

Analysis by type of purpose:
University Chairs 2,675 – – 2,675 2,548 
Scholarships, bursaries and prizes 823  576  651 2,050  1,954 
 
 3,498  576 651 4,725 4,502 
 
Analysis by asset 
Current asset investments    4,592 3,278
Cash and cash equivalents    133 1,224 

    4,725 4,502

Restricted  
permanent  

endowments
£’000

 Unrestricted  
permanent  

endowments 
£’000

 Expendable 
endowments 

£’000

2018  
Total

£’000

2017  
Total

£’000
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21. Restricted reserves

Reserves with restrictions are as follows:
 Capital grants   Donations  2018 Total 2017 Total 
   £’000   £’000   £’000   £’000 
     
Balances at 1 August 2017  1,090 593   1,683  1,986 
 
New donations   –  1,054  1,054  873 
Capital grants released  (188) – (188) (188)
Expenditure  – (804) (804) (988)
 
Total restricted comprehensive income for the year  (188) 250 62 (303)
 
At 31 July 2018  902  843 1,745 1,683 

 

Analysis of other restricted funds /donations by type of purpose:
    2018 Total 2017 Total 
     £’000   £’000 

Scholarships and bursaries    700  461 
Research support    143 132 
Capital grants    902 1,090

    1,745  1,683 

22. Cash and cash equivalents
  At 1st August 2017 Cash Flows At 31st July 2018
  £’000 £’000 £’000
 
Consolidated
Cash and cash equivalents  67,397 39,226 106,623
 
  67,397 39,226 106,623
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23. Financial instruments

Interest Rate Cap Agreements

The University has a number of financial instruments designed to limit its exposure to interest rate fluctuations on loan 
agreements entered into as part of the capital development program. The caps cover a range of periods over the life of  
the University’s loan agreements. The following interest rate caps were effective as 31 July 2018:

Instrument Type Total Notional Amount   Maturity Date  Capped Rate 
 £’000    

Floating to Fixed 60,000 03/05/2022 – 03/05/2024 2.5% – 4.0%
  

The fair value is determined by the quoted market price provided by the counterparty.

24. Lease obligations

Total rentals payable under operating leases, all relate to land and buildings:

Consolidated and University 31 July 2018 31 July 2017
 £’000 £’000

Payable during the year 23,857  24,295 

Future minimum lease payments due:
Not later than 1 year 24,442  25,170 
Later than 1 year and before 5 years 83,450  97,361 
Later than 5 years 195,206  219,708 

Total lease payments due 303,098  342,239 
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25. Subsidiary undertakings   
 
The subsidiary companies (which are registered in England & Wales except UAL Ventures (China) which is registered in 
Hong Kong), wholly-owned or effectively controlled by the University, are as follows:

Company Principal Activity Status Ordinary shares of £1
    
UAL Short Courses Limited  Short courses and consultancy 100% owned 100
UAL Ventures Limited International short courses and consultancy 100% owned 2
 
Non-trading subsidiaries are as follows    
London Arts Property Limited  Did not trade 100% owned 1 
UAL Artstemps Limited  Did not trade 100% owned 100

   203

Shares owned by subsidiary entities 
UAL Ventures (China) Did not trade 100% owned by 1 
  UAL Ventures Limited 

   204

26. Connected charitable Institutions

A number of charitable institutions are administered by or on behalf of the University and have been established for its 
general or special purposes. As a result, under paragraph 28 of Schedule 3 to the Charities Act 2011, these connected 
institutions are exempt from registration with the Charity Commission. These activities are included within the University’s 
results and may be analysed as follows:

         Change in Closing 
   Opening balance Income Expenditure  market value balance 
   £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Consolidated
Bursaries, scholarships and prizes (2 entities)  1,467 78 – 37 1,582 
University chairs (2 entities)   2,548 2 – 92 2,642
   
   4,015 80 – 129 4,224
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27. Pension Schemes

(i) Teachers’ Pension Scheme
TPS is typically valued every 4 years by the Government Actuary. Contributions are paid by the University at the rate 
specified following a valuation. The Scheme is unfunded and contributions are made to the Exchequer. The payments from 
the Scheme are made from the funds voted by Parliament. The contribution rate payable by the employer for the period 
beginning 1 April 2015 is 16.48% of pensionable salaries.

The TPS is a multi-employer defined benefit pension scheme. The University is unable to identify its share of the underlying 
assets and liabilities of the scheme. Accordingly, the University has accounted for its contributions as if it were a defined 
contribution scheme.

(ii) The Universities Superannuation Scheme
The Universities’ Superannuation Scheme (USS) provides benefits based on final pensionable salary. The assets of the 
scheme are held in a separate fund administered by the trustee, Universities Superannuation Limited.

Because of the mutual nature of the scheme, the scheme’s assets are not hypothecated to individual Universities and 
a scheme-wide contribution rate is set. The University is therefore exposed to actuarial risks associated with other 
Universitys’ employees and is unable to identify its share of the underlying assets and liabilities of the scheme on a 
consistent and reasonable basis and therefore, as required by FRS 102(28), accounts for the scheme as if it were a 
defined contribution scheme.

The contribution rate payable by the University to USS is 18% of pensionable salaries. The actuary to USS has confirmed 
that it is appropriate to take the pensions costs in the University’s accounts to be equal to the actual contributions 
paid during the year. In particular, the contribution rate recommended has regard to the surplus disclosed, the benefit 
improvements introduced subsequent to the valuation, and the need to spread surplus in a prudent manner over the  
future working lifetime of current scheme members.

As a result, the amount charged to the income and expenditure account represents the contributions payable to the 
scheme in respect of the accounting period.

The University provides for the net present value of USS deficit funding contributions it is required to make in future years. 
The provision within the accounts at 31st July 2018 is £633,000 (2017: £714,000).

The appointment of directors to the board of the trustee is determined by the Company’s Articles of Association.  Four 
of the directors are appointed by Universities UK; they are appointed by the University and College Union, of whom at 
least one must be a USS pensioner member; and a minimum of three and a maximum of five are independent directors 
appointed by the board.  Under the scheme trust deed and rules, the employer contribution rate is determined by the 
trustee, acting on actuarial advice.

The latest triennial actuarial valuation of the scheme was at 31 March 2014. This was the second valuation for USS under 
the scheme-specific funding regime introduced by the Pensions Act 2004, which requires schemes to adopt a statutory 
funding objective, which is to have sufficient and appropriate assets to cover their technical provisions. The actuary also 
carries out regular reviews of the funding levels.
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27. Pension Schemes (continued)

(iii) Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) and Enhanced TPS Contributions
The LGPS is a funded scheme providing benefits based on final pensionable pay with the assets held by a number 
of Pension Authorities in separate trustee administered funds. The University is covered by the London Pension Fund 
Authority.
 
There are two separate valuations of LGPS schemes as at 31 July 2018. They relate to the University and UAL Short 
Courses Limited. There is also a separate actuarial valuation of enhanced TPS pension entitlements arising from early 
retirements taken by staff under past reorganisation programmes. The information set out below is based on an actuarial 
valuation as at 31 July 2018 carried out by a qualified actuary.

LGPS disclosure
On 26 October, the High Court handed down a judgment involving the Lloyds Banking Group’s defined benefit pension 
schemes. The judgment concluded the schemes should be amended to equalise pension benefits for men and women 
in relation to guaranteed minimum pension benefits, “GMP”. The Government will need to consider this outcome in 
conjunction with the Government’s recent consultation on GMP indexation in public sector schemes before concluding on 
any changes required to LGPS schemes.

Assumptions 
The financial assumptions used to calculate the University’s scheme liabilities under FRS102 are:  
 
   %pa
   
Price Inflation (RPI)   3.35
Price Inflation (CPI)   2.35 
Rate of increase in salaries   3.85 
Rate of increase in pensions   2.35 
Discount rate   2.65

The assumptions used by the actuary are the best estimates chosen from a range of possible actuarial assumptions which, 
due to the timescale covered, may not necessarily be borne out in practice.        

The current mortality assumptions include sufficient allowance for future improvements in mortality rates. The average future 
life expectancies at age 65 are summarised below:

 Retiring today Retiring in 20 years
  Male Female Male Female
  Years Years Years Years

LGPS (UAL)  21.4 24.4 23.8 26.7
LGPS (UAL Short Courses)  21.2 24.7 23.6 26.9
TPS Enhanced  21.4 24.4 – –
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27. Pension Schemes (continued)

 Local Government Pension Scheme – University and Short Courses

The agreed contribution rate for the period ended 31 July 2018 was 12.1 per cent and between 5.5 and 12.5 per cent  
for employees throughout future periods.

The University’s share of the scheme assets represents an estimated 4 per cent of the total assets of the LGPS, which  
are not intended to be realised in the short term and may be subject to significant change before they are realised.  
The present value of the scheme’s assets is derived from cash flow projections over long periods and thus are inherently 
uncertain.        

Fair value of assets as at  31 July 2018 31 July 2017 31 July 2016
  £’000 £’000 £’000

Equities  150,858 138,974 95,533
Target return funds  55,081 47,023 45,151 
Cash  11,414 15,714 7,724
Cashflow matching  – – 16,226
Infrastructure  12,375 10,216 13,119
Commodities  – – 993
Property  19,101 14,763 6,942

Total  248,829 226,690 185,688
 
The expected return on assets was 6% per annum.   
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27. Pension Schemes (continued)

   Year Ended Year Ended
   31 July 2018 31 July 2017 
   £’000 £’000

Analysis of the amount shown in the balance sheet for LGPS pension:    
Scheme assets   248,829 226,690
Scheme liabilities   (389,817) (383,907)
 
Deficit in the scheme – net pension liability   (140,988) (157,217)
 
 
Amounts charged in other operating expenditure
Current service cost   22,924 18,257 
Past service costs   – 42 
Administration expenses   294 242
 
Total operating charge   23,218 18,541
 
Analysis of the amount charged in interest  
and other finance costs 
Interest cost   10,379 9,011 
Interest on assets   (6,245) (4,975)
 
Net charge to other finance income   4,134 4,036
 
Total profit and loss charge before deduction for tax  
 
Analysis of other comprehensive income for LGPS:  
Change in financial assumptions   (27,487) 21,373 
Experience (gain) on defined benefit obligation   – (9,933) 
Other acturial (gains) on assets   – (1,496) 
Return on assets less interest   (7,736) (23,986)
 
Total other comprehensive income   (35,223) (14,042)
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27. Pension Schemes (continued)

    At 31 July 2018  At 31 July 2017
   £’000 £’000

Defined benefit obligation    
At the beginning of the year   (383,907) (347,168)
Current service cost    (22,924) (18,257)
Interest cost   (10,379) (9,011)
Change in financial assumptions   27,487 (21,373)
Experience gain on defined benefit obligation   – 9,933
Estimated benefits paid net of transfers in   4,176 6,012
Past service costs, including curtailments   – (42)
Contributions by scheme participants and other employers  (4,394) (4,125)
Unfunded pension payments   124 124
   
At the end of the year   (389,817) (383,907)
 
 
Fair value of fund assets  
At the begining of the year   226,690 185,688 
Interest on assets   6,245 4,975 
Return on assets less interest   7,736 23,986 
Other acturial gains   – 1,496 
Administration expenses   (294) (242) 
Contributions by employer including unfunded   8,359 12,798 
Contributions by scheme participants and other employers  4,393 4,125 
 Estimated benefits paid plus unfunded net of transfers in  (4,300) (6,136)
 
At the end of the year   248,829 226,690
 
   

 
Scheme deficit at the end of the year   (140,988) (157,217)
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27. Pension Schemes (continued)

Local Government Pension Scheme – Enhanced pensions – Teachers’ Pensions Scheme
 
     
    Year Ended Year Ended
   31 July 2018 31 July 2017 
   £’000 £’000

Analysis of the amount shown in the balance sheet for TPS enhanced pensions:   
Scheme liabilities   (5,396) (5,605)
 
Deficit in the scheme – net pension liability   (5,396) (5,605)

Analysis of the amount charged to interst and other finance costs 
Interest cost   (145) (162)

Net charge to finance costs   (145) (162)
   

Analysis of other comprehensive income:   
Change in financial assumptions   136 23 
Change in demographic assumptions   – (291)
Experience (gain) on defined benefit obligation   (233) (280)
  
Total other comprehensive income   (97) (548)

    At 31 July 2018  At 31 July 2017
   £000 £000

Defined benefit obligation 
Deficit at beginning of year   (5,605) (6,439)
Interest cost   (145) (162)
Change in financial assumptions   136 268
Experience gain on defined benefit obligation   (233) 280
Unfunded pension payments   451 448
 
Deficit at end of year   (5,396) (5,605)
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27. Pension Schemes (continued)

Interest and other finance costs – net charge in respect of pensions schemes

  2018 2018 2017 2017
  Consolidated University Consolidated University
  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000

LGPS  4,134 4,086 4,036 3,987
TPS enhanced scheme  145 145 162 162
USS  17 17 19 19
     
Total net charge in respect of pension schemes (Note 9)  4,296 4,248 4,217 4,168

Reconciliation to the balance sheet

  2018 2018 2017 2017
  Consolidated University Consolidated University
  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000

Pension liability (LGPS)  (140,988) (139,514) (157,217) (155,215)
Pension liability (TPS enhanced scheme)  (5,396) (5,396) (5,605) (5,605)
Pension liability (USS)  (633) (633) (714) (714)
     
Total pension liability  (147,017) (145,543) (163,536) (161,534)
 
 
 
28. Non adjusting Post Balance Sheet Events

On 26 October, the High Court handed down a judgment involving the Lloyds Banking Group’s defined benefit pension 
schemes. The judgment concluded the schemes should be amended to equalise pension benefits for men and women in 
relation to guaranteed minimum pension benefits. The issues determined by the judgment arise in relation to many other 
defined benefit pension schemes. The USS provision included within the financial statements at note 19 and note 27 will 
only be impacted to the extent the change in benefits increases cash financing.



63www.arts.ac.uk

29. Related party transactions

Due to the nature of the University’s operations and the composition of the Court of Governors (being drawn from local, 
public and private sector organisations), it is inevitable that transactions will take place with organisations in which a 
member of the Court of Governors may have an interest. All transactions involving organisations in which a member of the 
Court of Governors may have an interest are conducted at arm’s length and in accordance with the University’s financial 
regulations and normal procurement procedures.

The following related party transactions took place during the year:

Expenditure totalling £7,200 (2017: £7,080) was paid to Creative Industries Federation, relating to the University’s annual 
membership fee. The entity is related to the University through unremunerated director, Nigel Carrington, and chair,  
Sir John Sorrell. Nigel Carrington is Governor and Vice-Chancellor of the University. Sir John Sorrell was a Governor of  
the University.

Expenditure totalling £nil (2017: £64,275) was paid to Fashion Retail Academy (FRA), relating mainly to teaching grant and 
fees for the provision of educational services to students on behalf of the University. The entity is related to the University by 
virtue of trustee, Stephen Reid, being a member of the University’s Executive Board.

Expenditure totalling £2,500 (2017: £2,500) was paid to International Student House, relating solely to the International 
Partnership Scheme. The entity was related to the University by virtue of a unremunerated trustee, Nigel Carrington,  
being a Governor and Vice-Chancellor of the University. He has now retired as trustee of International Student House.

Expenditure totalling £nil (2017: £131,794) was paid to Thames Water Utilities Limited, relating to use of utilities on UAL 
sites. The entity is related to the University by virtue of a non-executive director, Lorraine Baldry, being a Governor of the 
University. Lorraine Baldry has now retired from the board of Thames Water Utilities Limited and from the University’s Court 
of Governors. 

Expenditure totalling £40,468 (2017: £40,533) was paid to Universities UK. The entity is related to the University by virtue  
of an unremunerated director, Nigel Carrington, being a Governor and Vice-Chancellor of the University.

Expenditure totalling £1,341,626 (2017: £1,257,016) was paid to the Students’ Union, relating mainly to a grant payable  
to support their activities. The entity is related to the University by virtue of the Union president being a Governor of  
the University.

Expenditure totalling £106,708 (2017: £nil) was paid to the Advance HE for membership subscription fees and higher 
education focused strategic advice and services; of which £52,028 related to 2018 and £54,680 related to 2017. The 
entity is related to the University by virtue of the unremunerated chair of Advance HE, Nigel Carrington, being a Governor 
and Vice-Chancellor of the University.
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